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Acknowledgement of Country
DWER acknowledges the Traditional Owners of the lands on which we live and work throughout Western 

Australia and we pay our respects to Elders past and present. DWER recognises the practice of intergenerational 
care for Country and its relevance to our work and working with the community. DWER continues to move 

forward with a shared commitment to protect and conserve Country for our future generations.

‘Water and Pathways’ by Sharyn Egan 
Water to me is the source of all life. Water provides a focus around which life can take on meaning and social interactions as well as the 
interactions with all the other creatures that are around us. The lines around the lakes represent the ancient paths and the modern roads and 
highways. (Source: Words taken from ‘Water and Pathways’ artwork commissioning plaque DWER head office Prime House Joondalup)
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7th Floor Albert Facey House 469 Wellington Street Perth    MAIL TO: Perth BC PO Box 8489 Perth WA 6849    TEL: 08 6557 7500

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

2025

Department of Water and Environmental Regulation

To the Parliament of Western Australia

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
I have audited the financial statements of the Department of Water and Environmental 
Regulation (Department) which comprise:

• the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2025, the statement of comprehensive 
income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended 

• administered schedules comprising the administered assets and liabilities as at 
30 June 2025 and administered income and expenses by service for the year then ended

• notes comprising a summary of material accounting policies and other explanatory 
information.

In my opinion, the financial statements are:

• based on proper accounts and present fairly, in all material respects, the operating results 
and cash flows of the Department for the year ended 30 June 2025 and the financial 
position as at the end of that period

• in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (applicable to Tier 2 Entities), the 
Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions.

Basis for opinion
I conducted my audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements section of my report.

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for my opinion.
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Responsibilities of the Director General for the financial statements  
The Director General is responsible for:

• keeping proper accounts

• preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards (applicable to Tier 2 Entities), the Financial Management Act 2006 
and the Treasurer’s Instructions

• such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Director General is responsible for:

• assessing the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern

• disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern

• using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Western Australian Government 
has made policy or funding decisions affecting the continued existence of the Department.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
financial statements. The objectives of my audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of the financial statements. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal 
control.

A further description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on 
the Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website. This description forms part of my 
auditor’s report and can be found at https://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf 

Report on the audit of controls
Opinion
I have undertaken a reasonable assurance engagement on the design and implementation of 
controls exercised by the Department. The controls exercised by the Department are those 
policies and procedures established to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and investment of 
money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in 
accordance with the State’s financial reporting framework (the overall control objectives). 

In my opinion, in all material respects, the controls exercised by the Department are sufficiently 
adequate to provide reasonable assurance that the controls within the system were suitably 
designed to achieve the overall control objectives identified as at 30 June 2025, and the 
controls were implemented as designed as at 30 June 2025.
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The Director General’s responsibilities
The Director General is responsible for designing, implementing and maintaining controls to 
ensure that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of 
property and the incurring of liabilities are in accordance with the Financial Management Act 
2006, the Treasurer’s Instructions and other relevant written law.

Auditor General’s responsibilities
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility as an assurance practitioner is 
to express an opinion on the suitability of the design of the controls to achieve the overall 
control objectives and the implementation of the controls as designed. I conducted my 
engagement in accordance with Standard on Assurance Engagements ASAE 3150 Assurance 
Engagements on Controls issued by the Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. 
That standard requires that I comply with relevant ethical requirements and plan and perform 
my procedures to obtain reasonable assurance about whether, in all material respects, the 
controls are suitably designed to achieve the overall control objectives and were implemented 
as designed.

An assurance engagement involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the 
suitability of the controls design to achieve the overall control objectives and the 
implementation of those controls. The procedures selected depend on my judgement, including 
an assessment of the risks that controls are not suitably designed or implemented as designed. 
My procedures included testing the implementation of those controls that I consider necessary 
to achieve the overall control objectives.

I believe that the evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
my opinion.

Limitations of controls
Because of the inherent limitations of any internal control structure, it is possible that, even if 
the controls are suitably designed and implemented as designed, once in operation, the overall 
control objectives may not be achieved so that fraud, error or non-compliance with laws and 
regulations may occur and not be detected. Any projection of the outcome of the evaluation of 
the suitability of the design of controls to future periods is subject to the risk that the controls 
may become unsuitable because of changes in conditions.

Report on the audit of the key performance indicators
Basis for Qualified Opinion
I was unable to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence for the key effectiveness 
indicators listed below, as our testing identified issues with the accuracy of the underlying 
records. I was unable to confirm the performance of these key effectiveness indicators by 
alternative means. 

• Percentage of regulatory compliance activities completed as planned (2025 result, 97%)

• Percentage of potential environmental risks identified during compliance monitoring 
program that are rectified within two months (2025 result, 16%).

Consequently, I was unable to determine whether any adjustments were necessary to the 
reported performance of these indicators, which were the only indicators reported for Outcome 
2 ‘Emissions, discharges and clearing of native vegetation are effectively regulated to avoid 
unacceptable risks to public health and the environment’.
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Qualified Opinion
I have undertaken a reasonable assurance engagement on the key performance indicators 
of the Department of Water and Environmental Regulation for the year ended 30 June 2025 
reported in accordance with Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s 
Instructions (legislative requirements). The key performance indicators are the Under 
Treasurer-approved key effectiveness indicators and key efficiency indicators that provide 
performance information about achieving outcomes and delivering services.

My opinion has been formed on the basis of the matters outlined in this report. 

In my opinion, in all material respects, except for the possible effects of the matters described 
in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of my report, the key performance indicators report of 
the Department of Water and Environmental Regulation for the year ended 30 June 2025 is in 
accordance with the legislative requirements, and the key performance indicators are relevant 
and appropriate to assist users to assess the Department’s performance and fairly represent 
indicated performance for the year ended 30 June 2025.

Matter of Significance
On 30 June 2025, the Department received a direction from the Treasurer under section
61(1)(b) of the Financial Management Act 2006 that it is not required to report the following
four key effectiveness indicators under two outcomes for the year ended 30 June 2025 and
the following two future years:

Outcome 4: Waste avoided and the recovery of materials from landfill maximised 
• Percentage of municipal solid waste reported as diverted from landfill through recycling 

compared to waste strategy target in the Perth Metropolitan Region
• Percentage of commercial and industrial waste reported as diverted from landfill 

through recycling compared to the State-wide waste strategy target
• Percentage of construction and demolition waste reported as diverted from landfill 

through recycling compared to the State-wide waste strategy target.

Outcome 5: Quality advice to the Environmental Protection Authority and Minister for 
Environment on significant proposals and environmental issues

• Percentage of assessments that met agreed timelines.

Consequently, the above key performance indicators have not been reported for 30 June 2025. 
As a result, the Department does not have a reportable effectiveness indicator for Outcome 4: 
“Waste avoided and the recovery of materials from landfill maximised”. I am required by 
section 24(1) of the Auditor General Act 2006 to report matters of such significance. My opinion 
is not modified in respect of this matter.

The Director General’s responsibilities for the key performance indicators
The Director General is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the key 
performance indicators in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006 and the 
Treasurer’s Instructions and for such internal controls as the Director General determines 
necessary to enable the preparation of key performance indicators that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the key performance indicators, the Director General is responsible for identifying 
key performance indicators that are relevant and appropriate, having regard to their purpose in 
accordance with Treasurer’s Instruction 3 Financial Sustainability – Requirement 5: Key 
Performance Indicators.
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Auditor General’s responsibilities
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility as an assurance practitioner is 
to express an opinion on the key performance indicators. The objectives of my engagement 
are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the key performance indicators are relevant 
and appropriate to assist users to assess the entity’s performance and whether the key 
performance indicators are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and 
to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. I conducted my engagement in 
accordance with Standard on Assurance Engagements ASAE 3000 Assurance Engagements 
Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information issued by the Australian 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. That standard requires that I comply with relevant 
ethical requirements relating to assurance engagements.

An assurance engagement involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the 
amounts and disclosures in the key performance indicators. It also involves evaluating the 
relevance and appropriateness of the key performance indicators against the criteria and 
guidance in Treasurer’s Instruction 3 Financial Sustainability - Requirement 5 for measuring 
the extent of outcome achievement and the efficiency of service delivery. The procedures 
selected depend on my judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the key performance indicators. In making these risk assessments, I obtain an 
understanding of internal control relevant to the engagement in order to design procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances.

I believe that the evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
my opinion.

My independence and quality management relating to the report on financial 
statements, controls and key performance indicators
I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor General Act 2006 and the 
relevant ethical requirements relating to assurance engagements. In accordance with ASQM 1 
Quality Management for Firms that Perform Audits or Reviews of Financial Reports and Other 
Financial Information, or Other Assurance or Related Services Engagements, the Office of the 
Auditor General maintains a comprehensive system of quality management including 
documented policies and procedures regarding compliance with ethical requirements, 
professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

Other information
The Director General is responsible for the other information. The other information is the 
information in the entity’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2025, but not the financial 
statements, key performance indicators and my auditor’s report.

My opinions on the financial statements, controls and key performance indicators do not cover 
the other information and accordingly I do not express any form of assurance conclusion 
thereon.

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, controls and key performance 
indicators my responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements and key 
performance indicators or my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated.
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If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, I am required to report that fact. I did not receive the other information prior 
to the date of this auditor’s report. When I do receive it, I will read it and if I conclude that there 
is a material misstatement in this information, I am required to communicate the matter to 
those charged with governance and request them to correct the misstated information. If the 
misstated information is not corrected, I may need to retract this auditor’s report and re-issue 
an amended report.

Matters relating to the electronic publication of the audited financial statements 
and key performance indicators
This auditor’s report relates to the financial statements and key performance indicators of the 
Department of Water and Environmental Regulation for the year ended 30 June 2025 included 
in the annual report on the Department’s website. The Department’s management is 
responsible for the integrity of the Department’s website. This audit does not provide 
assurance on the integrity of the Department’s website. The auditor’s report refers only to the 
financial statements, controls and key performance indicators described above. It does not 
provide an opinion on any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the 
annual report. If users of the financial statements and key performance indicators are 
concerned with the inherent risks arising from publication on a website, they are advised to 
contact the entity to confirm the information contained in the website version.

Grant Robinson 
Assistant Auditor General Financial Audit
Delegate of the Auditor General for Western Australia 
Perth, Western Australia 
10 October 2025
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Certification of financial 
statements

For the reporting period ended 30 June 2025

The accompanying financial statements of the Department of 
Water and Environmental Regulation have been prepared in 
compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management 
Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the 
financial transactions for the financial year ended 30 June 2025 
and the financial position as at 30 June 2025.

At the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances 
which would render the particulars included within the financial 
statements misleading or inaccurate.

Hilary Manderson Alistair Jones
Chief Finance Officer Director General
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3 October 2025 3 October 2025

Statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 30 June 2025

    2025 2024

  Notes $’000 $’000

Cost of services    

Expenses    

Employee benefits expense 2.1(a) 152,733 131,145

Supplies and services 2.3 54,107 57,734

Depreciation and amortisation expenses 4.1.1 ,4.2 ,4.3.1 13,159 11,019

Finance costs 6.3 249 170

Accommodation expenses 2.3 11,004 10,515

Grants and subsidies 2.2 30,074 22,451

Other expenses 2.3 6,026 7,407

Net loss on disposal of non‑current assets 2.4 210 140

Total cost of services  267,562 240,581
 

Income    

User charges and fees 3.2 45,550 52,777

Commonwealth grants 3.3 3,132 3,031

Waste Levy 3.4 98,262 96,488

Other income 3.5 14,100 15,501

Total income  161,044 167,797
    
Net cost of services  106,518 72,784

    2025 2024

  Notes $’000 $’000

Income from State Government    

Service appropriation 3.1 127,074 104,760

Income from other public sector entities 3.1 6,169 5,850

Resources received 3.1 1,871 2,644

Royalties for Regions fund 3.1 11,636 8,973

Total income from State Government  146,750 122,227
    
Surplus for the period  40,232 49,443

Other comprehensive income    

Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss    

Changes in asset revaluation surplus 8.10 45,913 39,145

Total other comprehensive income  45,913 39,145

    
Total comprehensive income for the period  86,145 88,588

The Statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with 
the accompanying notes.
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Statement of financial position
As at 30 June 2025

    2025 2024

  Notes $’000 $’000

Assets    

Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 6.4 34,897 23,487

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 6.4 98,470 96,184

Receivables 5.1 43,782 46,454

Amounts receivable for services 5.2 6,238 7,753

Other assets 5.3 5,462 4,900

Total current assets  188,849 178,778
 

Non‑current assets    

Receivables 5.1 5,407 4,253

Amounts receivable for services 5.2 98,552 89,803

Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment 4.1 532,523 474,559

Right‑of‑use assets 4.2 3,630 2,995

Intangible assets 4.3 45,373 33,643

Other assets 5.3 44 121

Total non‑current assets  685,529 605,374
    
Total assets  874,378 784,152

    2025 2024

  Notes $’000 $’000

Liabilities    

Current liabilities    

Payables 5.4 10,115 8,880

Lease liabilities 6.1 1,073 891

Contract liabilities 5.5 3,299 2,382

Employee related provisions 2.1(b) 31,296 27,248

Other current liabilities 5.6 24 1

Total current liabilities  45,807 39,402
 

Non‑current liabilities    

Lease liabilities 6.1 2,710 2,194

Employee related provisions 2.1(b) 7,882 7,295

Total non‑current liabilities  10,592 9,489
    
Total liabilities  56,399 48,891

    

Net assets  817,979 735,261

    

Equity    

Contributed equity 8.10 222,816 226,243

Reserves 8.10 182,988 137,075

Accumulated surplus  412,175 371,943

Total equity  817,979 735,261

The Statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes.
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Statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 30 June 2025

 
Notes

Contributed  
equity Reserves Accumulated  

surplus
Total  

equity
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at 1 July 2023  235,240 97,930 322,500 655,670

Surplus  - - 49,443 49,443

Other comprehensive income 8.10 - 39,145 - 39,145

Total comprehensive income for the period  - 39,145 49,443 88,588
      

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:      

Capital appropriations 8.10 11,046 - - 11,046

Distribution to owners 8.10 (20,043) - - (20,043)

Total  (8,997) - - (8,997)

Balance at 30 June 2024  226,243 137,075 371,943 735,261

Balance at 1 July 2024  226,243 137,075 371,943 735,261

Surplus  - - 40,232 40,232

Other comprehensive income 8.10 - 45,913 - 45,913

Total comprehensive income for the period  - 45,913 40,232 86,145
 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:      

Capital appropriations 8.10 22,377 - - 22,377

Distribution to owners 8.10 (25,804) - - (25,804)

Total  (3,427) - - (3,427)

Balance at 30 June 2025  222,816 182,988 412,175 817,979

The Statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 30 June 2025

    2025 
$’000

2024 
$’000

Cash flows from State Government    

Service appropriation  112,087 89,806

Capital contributions  22,377 11,048

Holding account drawdown  7,753 6,293

Distributions to owner  (25,804) (19,328)

Net proceeds on sale of land remitted to 
consolidated account  - (229)

Royalties for Regions fund  11,636 8,973

Funds from other public sector entities  5,505 5,581

Net cash provided by State Government  133,554 102,144

  Notes 2025 
$’000

2024 
$’000

Utilised as follows: 
Cash flows from operating activities    
Payments    

Employee benefits  (147,117) (128,968)
Supplies and services  (54,370) (55,146)
Finance costs  (251) (167)
Accommodation  (10,939) (10,397)
Grants and subsidies  (28,880) (23,385)
GST payments on purchases  (12,316) (10,315)
Other payments  (4,811) (5,694)

    
Receipts    

User charges and fees  44,763 50,049
Commonwealth grants  3,131 3,031
Waste Levy  102,013 94,359
GST receipts on sales  817 548
GST receipts from taxation authority  10,977 9,867
Other receipts  14,683 9,910

Net cash used in operating activities  (82,300) (66,308)
    

Cash flows from investing activities    
Payments    

Purchase of non‑current assets  (35,113) (19,756)
Receipts    

Proceeds from sale of non‑current assets  - 29
Net cash used in investing activities  (35,113) (19,727)

   
Cash flows from financing activities    
Payments    

Principal elements of lease payments  (1,290) (1,382)
Payments to accrued salaries account  (1,155) (944)

Net cash used in financing activities  (2,445) (2,326)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  13,696 13,783
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period  119,671 109,196
Adjustment for the reclassification of accrued salaries account  - (3,308)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 6.4 133,367 119,671

The Statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Administered schedules
For the year ended 30 June 2025

  2025 
$’000

2024 
$’000

Administered income and expenses

Income   

For transfer:   

Regulatory fees and other charges(a) 68 94

Total administered income 68 94

Expenses   

Payments into the consolidated account(a) 68 94

Total administered expenses 68 94

(a)	 Payments into the consolidated account include water fines collected on 
behalf of the Water Corporation, and environmental infringement regulatory 
fees and fines collected on behalf of the State Government.

(b)	 Further explanations of variances are contained in note 9.2 ‘Explanatory 
statement for administered items.’

  2025 
$’000

2024 
$’000

Administered assets and liabilities

Assets   

Current assets   

Cash and cash equivalents 1 1

Total administered current assets 1 1

Total administered assets 1 1
 

Liabilities   

Current liabilities   

Payables 1 -

Total administered current liabilities 1 -

Total administered liabilities 1 -
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Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 30 June 2025

1. Basis of preparation 
The Department of Water and Environmental Regulation (the 
Department) is a Government not‑for‑profit entity controlled by the 
State of Western Australia (WA), which is the ultimate parent. 

A description of the nature of its operations and its principal activities 
have been included in the ‘Overview’ which does not form part of 
these financial statements.

These annual financial statements were authorised for issue by the 
Director General of the Department on 3 October 2025.

(a) Statement of compliance

The financial statements are general purpose financial statements 
which have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards – Simplified Disclosures, the Conceptual Framework 
and other authoritative pronouncements issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (AASB) as modified by Treasurer’s 
instructions. Some of these pronouncements are modified to vary 
their application and disclosure. 

The Financial Management Act 2006 and Treasurer’s instructions, 
which are legislative provisions governing the preparation of 
financial statements for the Department, take precedence over AASB 
pronouncements. Where an AASB pronouncement is modified and 
has had a significant financial effect on the reported results, details of 
the modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the 
notes to the financial statements.
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(e) Administered items

The Department administers, but does not control, certain activities and 
functions for and on behalf of Government that do not contribute to the 
Department’s services or objectives. It does not have discretion over how it 
utilises the transactions in pursuing its own objectives.

Transactions relating to the administered activities are not recognised as the 
Department’s income, expenses, assets and liabilities, but are disclosed in 
the accompanying schedules as 'Administered income and expenses', and 
'Administered assets and liabilities'.

The accrual basis of accounting and applicable Australian Accounting 
Standards have been adopted.

(f) Comparative figures and information

Except when an Australian Accounting Standard permits or requires otherwise, 
comparative information is presented in respect of the previous period for all 
amounts reported in the financial statements. AASB 1060 provides relief from 
presenting comparatives for: 

•	 Property, Plant and Equipment reconciliations;

•	 Intangible Asset reconciliations; and

•	 Right‑of‑Use Asset reconciliations.

(g) Judgements and estimates

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about 
financial information being presented. The significant judgements and 
estimates made in the preparation of these financial statements are 
disclosed in the notes where amounts affected by those judgements and / or 
estimates are disclosed. Estimates and associated assumptions are based on 
professional judgements derived from historical experience and various other 
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

(b) Basis of preparation

These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars applying the 
accrual basis of accounting and using the historical cost convention. Certain 
balances will apply a different measurement basis (such as the fair value basis). 
Where this is the case the different measurement basis is disclosed in the 
associated note. All values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000).

(c) Accounting for Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and 
services tax (GST), except that the: 

(a)	 amount of GST incurred by the Department as a purchaser that is not 
recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) is recognised as 
part of an asset’s cost of acquisition or as part of an item of expense; and

(b)	 receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.

Cash flows are included in the Statement of cash flows on a gross basis. 
However, the GST components of cash flows arising from investing and 
financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are 
classified as operating cash flows.

(d) Contributed equity

Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly‑Owned Public 
Sector Entities requires transfers in the nature of equity contributions, other 
than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, as designated 
as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to, transfer) be recognised 
as equity contributions.

Capital appropriations have been designated as contributions by owners by 
TI 8 – Requirement 8.1(i) and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity.
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2. Use of our funding

2.1(a) Employee benefits expense

   2025 
$’000

 2024 
$’000

Employee benefits 137,182 117,930

Superannuation ‑ defined contribution plans 15,551 12,959

Termination benefits ‑ 256

Total employee benefits expenses 152,733 131,145

Add: AASB 16 Non‑monetary benefits (not included in employee benefit 
expense) 1,160 1,211

Less: Employee contributions (refer to note 3.5 Other income) (157) (183)

Total employee benefits provided 153,736 132,173

Employee benefits include wages, salaries and social contributions, accrued and paid 
leave entitlements and paid sick leave; and non‑monetary benefits recognised under 
accounting standards other than AASB 16 (such as cars, housing and free or subsidised 
goods or services) for employees.

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before normal 
retirement date, or when an employee accepts an offer of benefits in exchange for the 
termination of employment. Termination benefits are recognised when the Department 
is demonstrably committed to terminating the employment of current employees 
according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal or providing 
termination benefits as a result of an offer of voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due 
more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period are discounted to present 
value.

Superannuation is the amount recognised in profit or loss of the Statement of 
comprehensive income comprises employer contributions paid to the GSS (concurrent 
contributions), the WSS, the GESB schemes or other superannuation funds. 

AASB 16 Non‑monetary benefits are non‑monetary employee benefits, predominantly 
relating to the provision of vehicle and housing benefits that are recognised under 
AASB 16 and are excluded from the employee benefit expense.

Expenses incurred in the delivery of services

This section provides additional information about how the 
Department’s funding is applied and the accounting policies that are 
relevant for an understanding of the items recognised in the financial 
statements. The primary expenses incurred by the Department in 
achieving its objectives and the relevant notes are:

Notes  2025  
$’000

 2024  
$’000

Employee benefits expense 2.1(a) 152,733 131,145

Employee related provisions 2.1(b) 39,178 34,543

Grants and subsidies 2.2 30,074 22,451

Other expenditure 2.3 71,137 75,656

Net loss on disposal of non‑current assets 2.4 210 140

113 | Annual report 2024–25 | Department of Water and Environmental Regulation Home Overview Priorities Issues Performance Disclosures Other Appendices

https://www.wa.gov.au/government/publications/water-and-environmental-regulation-annual-report-2024-25
https://www.wa.gov.au/government/publications/water-and-environmental-regulation-annual-report-2024-25
https://www.wa.gov.au/government/publications/water-and-environmental-regulation-annual-report-2024-25
https://www.wa.gov.au/government/publications/water-and-environmental-regulation-annual-report-2024-25
https://www.wa.gov.au/government/publications/water-and-environmental-regulation-annual-report-2024-25
https://www.wa.gov.au/government/publications/water-and-environmental-regulation-annual-report-2024-25


Employee contributions are contributions made to the Department by 
employees towards employee benefits that have been provided by the 
Department. This includes both AASB 16 and non‑AASB 16 employee 
contributions.

2.1(b) Employee related provisions

 2025 
$’000

2024 
$’000

Current   

Employee benefits provisions   

Annual leave(a) 13,583 11,897

Long service leave(b) 16,535 14,111

Purchased annual leave 130 151

Deferred salary scheme(c) 499 412

 30,747 26,571

Other provisions   

Employment on‑costs(d) 549 677

Total current employee related provisions 31,296 27,248

 
Non‑Current   

Employee benefits provisions   

Long service leave(b) 7,740 7,109

Other provisions   

Employment on‑costs(d) 142 186

Total non‑current employee related provisions 7,882 7,295
   

Total employee related provisions 39,178 34,543

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees, in respect of annual 
leave and long service leave for services rendered up to the reporting date and 
recorded as an expense during the period the services are delivered.

(a) Annual leave liabilities are classified as current as there is no right to 
defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

The provision for annual leave is calculated at the present value of expected 
payments to be made in relation to services provided by employees up to the 
reporting date.

(b) Long service leave liabilities are unconditional long service leave 
provisions and are classified as current liabilities as the Department does not 
have the right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the 
end of the reporting period.

Pre‑conditional and conditional long service leave provisions are classified 
as non‑current liabilities because the Department has the right to defer the 
settlement of the liability until the employee has completed the requisite years 
of service.

The provision for long service leave is calculated at present value as the 
Department does not expect to wholly settle the amounts within 12 months. 
The present value is measured taking into account the present value of 
expected future payments to be made in relation to services provided by 
employees up to the reporting date. These payments are estimated using the 
remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement and discounted 
using market yields at the end of the reporting period on national government 
bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated 
future cash outflows.

(c) Deferred salary scheme liabilities are classified as current where there is 
no right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period.

(d) Employment on‑costs involve the settlement of annual and long service 
leave liabilities which gives rise to the payment of employment on‑costs 
including workers’ compensation insurance. The provision is the present value 
of expected future payments.
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Employment on‑costs, including workers’ compensation insurance premiums, 
are not employee benefits and are recognised separately as liabilities 
and expenses when the employment to which they relate has occurred. 
Employment on‑costs are included as part of ‘Other expenses,’ note 2.3 (apart 
from the unwinding of the discount [finance cost]) and are not included as 
part of the Department’s Employee benefits expense. The related liability is 
included in Employment on‑costs provision.

   2025 
$’000

 2024 
$’000

Employment on‑costs provision

Carrying amount at start of period 863 979

Additional/(reversals of) provisions recognised 256 341

Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefits (479) (494)

Unwinding of the discount 51 37

Carrying amount at end of period 691 863

Key sources of estimation uncertainty – long service leave

Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical 
experience and various other factors that have a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the 
next reporting period.

Several estimates and assumptions are used in calculating the Department’s 
long service leave provision. These include:

•	 expected future salary rates
•	 discount rates
•	 employee retention rates
•	 expected future payments.

Changes in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the carrying 
amount of the long service leave provision. Any gain or loss following 
revaluation of the present value of long service leave liabilities is recognised as 
employee benefits expense.
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Transactions in which the Department provides goods, 
services, assets (or extinguishes a liability) or labour to 
another party without receiving approximately equal value 
in return are categorised as ‘Grant or subsidy expenses.’ 
Grants and subsidies can either be operating or capital in 
nature.

Grants can be paid as general‑purpose grants which refer 
to grants that are not subject to conditions regarding their 
use. Alternatively, they may be paid as specific purpose 
grants which are paid for a particular purpose and / or have 
conditions attached regarding their use.

Grants and other transfers to third parties (other than 
contribution to owners) are recognised as an expense in 
the reporting period in which they are paid or payable. They 
include transactions such as: grants, subsidies, personal 
benefit payments made in cash to individuals, other 
transfer payments made to public sector agencies, local 
government, non‑government schools, and community 
groups.

(a)	 The Urban Greening Grant Program is delivering 
activities that increase the extent and condition of 
vegetation in urban areas. It is a component of the 
Western Australian Government’s Climate Adaption 
Strategy to future proof urban environments in the Perth 
and Peel region against increasing temperatures and 
reduced rainfall.

(b)	 The Western Australian and Australian Governments 
announced their joint commitment to improve 
recycling capacity in Western Australia through a 
joint commitment in funding. The Commonwealth 
contribution is through the Recycling Modernisation 
Fund to fund the Commonwealth Grants – National 
Partnership on Recycling Infrastructure. This funding 
was in response to the former Council of Australian 
Governments’ decision to ban the export of waste 
glass, tyres, plastics and paper/cardboard. The funding 
supports private investment in recycling infrastructure 
through grants administered by the Department.

2.2 Grants and subsidies

Notes  2025  
$’000

 2024 
$’000

Recurrent    

Carbon Innovation Grants Program  760 58

Climate Action Fund – Climate Science Initiative  199 -

Contaminated Sites Management Account Grants  28 260

Grants Other  - 300

Keep Australia Beautiful Council (W.A.)  183 166

Murujuga Aboriginal Corporation Resourcing  278 193

Native Vegetation Program – Wave  305 -

Plastic Free July  250 -

Polyphagous Shot‑Hole Borer – WA Tree Recovery Program  141 -

Royalties for Regions – Healthy Estuaries Western Australia (Continuation)  25 -

State‑wide Water Efficiency Measures  462 143

Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Account 3.4 6,812 7,347

Water Innovation Partnership  112 48

Western Australian Climate Policy  - 210

Capital    
Climate Action Fund – Urban Greening Grants(a)  3,022 592

Commonwealth Grants – National Partnership on Recycling Infrastructure(b)  5,647 2,007

Commonwealth Grants – Rural Water Planning Program(c)  136 501

Clean Energy Future Fund – Western Australia Recovery Program(d)  363 1,106

Clean Western Australia – Waste Paper and Cardboard Processing(e)  3,488 22

E‑Waste to Landfill Ban(f)  2,167 3,652

Native Vegetation Rehabilitation Scheme(g)  1,949 1,137

Pilbara Environmental Offsets Fund  1,159 200

Rural Water Planning Program(c)  957 959

Small Grants Program – Greening our Community  - 546

Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Account – Waste Export Ban 3.4 1,631 2,004

Water Efficiency Scheme – Gnangara Groundwater Allocation Plan  - 1,000

Total grants and subsidies  30,074 22,451
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(c)	 The Western Australian and Commonwealth Governments recognise the 
serious impact climate change is having on regional farming communities 
and continues their commitment to assist Local Government Authorities 
and farmers to address immediate water needs as well as building 
resilience into the future. 

(d)	 The Clean Energy Future Fund – West Australia Recovery Program 
supports the development of clean energy projects under a framework 
agreed by the Minister for the Environment and the Minister for Energy, 
accelerating deployment of a broad range of clean energy solutions to 
decarbonise West Australia’s regions and the mining sector. Investment is 
expected to drive the installation of clean energy infrastructure in regional 
and remote areas, increasing economic activity and employment.

(e)	 The initiative is co‑funded by the Commonwealth Government with 
the purpose of creating a new wastepaper and cardboard mill. The 
infrastructure assists the Western Australian Government in responding to 
the export ban of wastepaper and cardboard from July 2024 and drives the 
creation of new recycling and construction jobs.

(f)	 The Western Australian Government is delivering an E‑Waste to Landfill 
Ban in Western Australia, which will help recover valuable materials from 
waste that would otherwise be lost. The scope of e‑waste items banned 
focuses on those with material recovery pathways, such as product 
stewardship schemes, in place to limit the risks of unwanted outcomes. 
The categories of e‑waste in the initial ban, which came into effect on 
the 1st of July 2024, includes televisions, computers, large household 
goods like dishwashers, fridges, large medical equipment, lighting, 
lamps and all batteries. E‑waste service providers, the waste industry 
and significant‑sized entities will have obligations to ensure e‑waste is 
managed responsibly. 

(g)	 The Native Vegetation Rehabilitation Scheme program will contribute 
to improving habitat for Western Australia’s unique and important flora 
and fauna species, especially black cockatoos, and remnant vegetation 
in highly cleared landscapes. This broader revegetation scheme will 
contribute to the ecosystem services provided by functioning vegetation 
communities. 
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2.3 Other expenditure

 2025 
$’000

 2024  
$’000

Supplies and services   

Communications 1,836 1,761

Consultants and contractors 40,031 43,187

Consumables 501 471

Materials 495 483

Travel 1,790 1,519

Vehicle expenses 844 683

Minor plant, machinery and equipment 1,678 2,478

Plant, machinery and equipment hire 115 48

Chemical analysis expense 1,265 1,160

Water carting and drought relief 434 595

Other supplies and services 5,118 5,349

Total supplies and services expenses 54,107 57,734
 

Accommodation expenses   

Rental 9,321 8,440

Electricity and water 489 525

Rates and taxes 17 26

Security 66 55

Repairs and maintenance 552 765

Cleaning 559 704

Total accommodation expenses 11,004 10,515

 2025 
$’000

 2024  
$’000

Other expenses   

Audit fees 588 361

Bad debts 5 1

Equipment repairs and maintenance 773 595

Expected credit losses – expense - 729

Employment on‑costs 2,940 3,209

Impairment losses on measurement sites(a) - 1,008

Insurance 223 538

Waivers(b) 1,284 -

Other operating expenses 213 966

Total other expenses 6,026 7,407
   

Total other expenditure 71,137 75,656

(a)	 Refer to note 4.1.1 for details regarding impairment losses on measurement 
sites. 

(b)	 $1,280 million of this relate to EPA implementation conditions waivers.

Supplies and services

Supplies and services are recognised as an expense in the reporting period 
in which they are incurred. The carrying amounts of any materials held for 
distribution are expensed when the materials are distributed.

Accommodation expenses

Repairs, maintenance, cleaning, security, electricity, water, rates and taxes 
costs are recognised as expenses as incurred.
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Rental expenses include:

(i)	 Included in rental expenses are Office rental costs of $8.5 million (2024: 
$8.4 million). Office rental is expensed as incurred as Memorandum 
of Understanding Agreements between the Department and the 
Department of Finance for the leasing of office accommodation contain 
significant substitution rights.

(ii)	 short‑term leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.

(iii)	 low‑value leases with an underlying value of $5,000 or less.

Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses generally represent the day‑to‑day running costs 
incurred in normal operations.

Equipment repairs and maintenance

Repairs and maintenance costs are recognised as expenses as incurred, 
except where they relate to the replacement of a significant component of an 
asset. In that case, the costs are capitalised and depreciated.

Expected credit losses

The allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables and accrued 
revenue is measured at the lifetime expected credit losses at each reporting 
date. The Department has established a provision matrix that is based on its 
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward‑looking factors specific 
to the receivables and the economic environment. Please refer to note 5.1 
Receivables for more details. 

Employment on‑cost

Employment on‑cost includes workers’ compensation insurance and other 
employment on‑costs. The on‑costs’ liability associated with the recognition 
of annual and long service leave liabilities is included at note 2.1(b) Employee 
related provisions. Superannuation contributions accrued as part of the 
provision for leave are employee benefits and are not included in employment 
on‑costs.

2.4 Net loss on disposal of non‑current assets

   2025 
$’000

 2024 
$’000

Proceeds from disposal of non‑current assets   

Land - (29)

Plant, equipment and vehicles - (6)
 

Carrying amount of non‑current assets disposed   

Infrastructure - -

Land - 20

Leasehold improvements - -

Licences - -

Measurement sites 210 137

Plant, equipment and vehicles - 18

Net loss on disposal of non‑current assets 210 140

Realised and unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis. These 
include gains arising on the disposal of non‑current assets and revaluations of 
non‑current assets.

Gains and losses on the disposal of non‑current assets are presented by 
deducting from the proceeds on disposal the carrying amount of the asset and 
related selling expenses. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss in 
the Statement of comprehensive income (from the proceeds of sale).
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3. Our funding services

How we obtain our funding

This section provides additional information about how the Department 
obtains its funding and the relevant accounting policy notes that govern the 
recognition and measurement of this funding. The primary income received by 
the Department and the relevant notes are:

  Notes  2025 
$’000

 2024 
$’000

Income from State Government 3.1 146,750 122,227

User charges and fees 3.2 45,550 52,777

Commonwealth grants 3.3 3,132 3,031

Waste levy 3.4 98,262 96,488

Other income 3.5 14,100 15,501
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3. Our funding services 3.1 Income from State Government

 2025  
$’000

 2024
$’000

Appropriation received during the period(a):   

Service appropriation 127,074 104,760

Total appropriation received 127,074 104,760
   
Income from other public sector entities during the period(b):   

Environmental Protection Part IV Cost Recovery Account 2,137 2,829

Establishing and Maintaining Vegetation Offsets Account 894 361

Grants 1,029 511

Interest revenue 2,050 1,735

Other 59 414

Total income from other public sector entities 6,169 5,850

2025  
$’000

 2024  
$’000

Resources received from other public sector entities during the period(c):   

Services received free of charge   

Department of Finance – Accommodation lease and depreciation 186 160

Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage – Spatial data 1 -

Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development – Digital map 10 7

Landgate – Land information services 80 697

Main Roads Western Australia – Assessment of environmental approvals 214 234

State Solicitor's Office – Legal services 1,355 1,546

Department of Transport – Compliance review 25 -

Total services received free of charge 1,871 2,644
 

Royalties for Regions fund(d):   

Regional Infrastructure and Headworks Account 9,253 6,597

Regional Community Services Account 2,383 2,376

Total Royalties for Regions Fund 11,636 8,973
   

Total income from State Government 146,750 122,227

(a) Service appropriation

Service appropriations are recognised as income at the fair value of 
consideration received in the period in which the Department gains 
control of the appropriated funds. The Department gains control of 
appropriated funds at the time those funds are deposited in the bank 
account or credited to the holding account held at Treasury.

Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered. 
Appropriation revenue comprises the following:

•	 cash component

•	 a receivable (asset).

The receivable (holding account – note 5.2) comprises the following:

•	 the budgeted depreciation expense for the year

•	 any agreed increase in leave liabilities during the year.

(b) Income from other public service entities

Income from other public service entities is recognised as income 
when the Department has satisfied its performance obligations 
under the funding agreement. If there is no performance obligation, 
income will be recognised when the Department receives the funds.

(c) Resources received from other public sector entities

Resources received from other public sector entities are recognised 
as income equivalent to the fair value of the assets received, or the 
fair value of those services that can be reliably determined and which 
would have been purchased if not donated.

(d) Royalties for Regions fund

The Regional Infrastructure and Headworks Account and Regional 
Community Services Account are sub‑funds within the overarching 
Royalties for Regions fund. The recurrent funds are committed to 
projects and programs in WA regional areas and are recognised as 
income when the Department receives the funds.
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Summary of consolidated account appropriations 
For the year ended 30 June 2025

 
Budget Section 25 

transfers
Revised 
Budget Actual Variance

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Delivery of services     

Item 88 Net amount 
appropriated to deliver 
services

132,001 3,876 135,877  126,089 (9,788)

Amount authorised by 
other statutes      

- Salaries and 
Allowances Act 1975 985 - 985  985 -

Total appropriations 
provided to deliver 
services

132,986 3,876 136,862 127,074 (9,788)

 
Capital      

Item 154 Capital 
appropriation 16,931 - 16,931  22,377 5,446

* Additional funding includes supplementary funding and new funding authorised 
under section 27 of the Act and amendments to standing appropriations.

3.2 User charges and fees

   2025 
$’000

 2024  
$’000

Industry fees(a) 26,156 27,656

Controlled waste(b) 6,555 6,420

Contaminated sites 278 331

Clearing regulations 307 299

Water licences and regulatory fees(c) 1,653 1,480

Noise regulations 21 -

Environmental Protection Part IV Cost Recovery Account(d) 10,538 16,582

Other charges and fees 42 9

Total user charges and fees 45,550 52,777

User charges and fees revenue are recognised at the transaction price when 
the Department transfers control of the services to customers. 

Revenue is recognised at a point‑in‑time for licences, works approvals, and 
tracking forms. The performance obligations for these user fees and charges 
are satisfied when the licence, works approval or tracking form is issued to the 
customer.

(a)	 Licensing and registration fees relating to prescribed premises under 
Part V of the Environmental Protection Act 1986.

(b)	 Fees for the licensing of vehicles transporting controlled public waste as 
per the Environmental Protection (Controlled Waste) Regulations 2004.

(c)	 Water licences and regulatory fees under the Rights in Water and 
Irrigation Act 1914.

Revenue is recognised at a point in time being the earlier of cash receipt 
or when the Department’s right to receive consideration is established with 
regards to environmental impact assessments (EIA). 

(d)	 Part IV of the Environmental Protection Act 1986 states that the 
Environmental Protection Authority (EPA) will conduct EIA in WA. The 
Environmental Protection (Cost Recovery) Regulations 2021 (Regulations) 
were developed to prescribe or provide for the determination of the fees 
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and charges for the EIA processes under Part IV of the Environmental 
Protection Act 1986. A special purpose account was established 
to manage the funds recovered under the Regulations to be used 
for defraying the costs incurred by the Department in receiving and 
assessing proposals and monitoring the implementation of proposals 
under Part IV (division 1 or 2) of the Environmental Protection Act 1986. 
Refer to note 8.7 for additional information. 

3.3 Commonwealth grants

   2025  
$’000

 2024  
$’000

Commonwealth grants – recurrent 3,132 3,031

Recurrent grants are recognised as income when the grants are receivable.

Details of the Department’s Commonwealth grants are as follows:

   2025  
$’000

 2024  
$’000

Indian Ocean Territories Account 1,712 1,457

National Pollutant Inventory 107 107

National Partnership on Recycling Infrastructure - 1,467

National Water Grid – Community Water Supply Program 400 -

National Water Grid – Agricultural Areas Dams 913 -

Total Commonwealth grants 3,132 3,031

3.4 Waste levy

  2025 
$’000

2024 
$’000

Waste levy 98,262 96,488

The Waste levy transaction price is determined by legislation. The Waste 
Avoidance and Resource Recovery Account (WARR Account) was established 
in 2008 under section 79 of the Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery 
Act 2007 (WARR Act). Under the Act, licensed metropolitan landfill operators 
are required to fund the operations of the WARR Account. The WARR Account 
holds revenue allocated from the levy to fund waste management programs. 

Waste levies give rise to variable consideration as the transaction price is 
dependent on waste quantities. Further, variable consideration may arise 
where exemptions apply to certain types of waste or where the licensed landfill 
operator is subject to an investigation.

The Waste levy income relating to licensed landfill operators is recognised 
when control of the license is transferred to the licensed landfill operator i.e., 
at the date of issue of the license. Where the transaction price is subject to 
variable consideration, the variable consideration is estimated at contract 
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant revenue 
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when 
the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently 
resolved. 

The Department may also receive waste levy income from non‑licensed 
landfill operators in relation to breaches of the WARR Act. Such amounts 
are recognised at the earlier of when the Department’s right to receive 
consideration is established or when cash is received. 
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3.5 Other income

 
2025 
$’000 

2024 
$’000

Services rendered   
Establishing and Maintaining Vegetation Offsets Account(a) 423 111

Pilbara Environmental Offsets Fund(b) 3,970 8,019

Employee contributions(c) 157 183

Lease rentals – land and buildings 367 253

Tree annuity 128 94

Tree harvest 49 19

Recoupment of expenses 1,252 522

Recoupment of grant funds 490 49

Murujuga Rock Art Monitoring Program – industry funding(d) 6,246 6,124

Expected credit loss reversal 935 -

Other revenue 83 127

Total other income 14,100 15,501

(a)	 The Department administers the Environmental Protection Act 1986 
which regulates the clearing of native vegetation. Clearing of native 
vegetation requires the authority of a clearing permit unless it is of an 
exempt kind. Clearing permits may include conditions requiring an offset to 
counterbalance the impacts of clearing. Offsets requirements are imposed 
in accordance with the WA Environmental Offsets Policy (2011) and the 
WA Environmental Offsets Guidelines (2014). Certain offset requirements 
involve payment of a monetary contribution into the Establishing and 
Maintaining Vegetation Offsets Account, which is an account managed by 
the Department.

	 Contributions into the Establishing and Maintaining Vegetation Offsets 
Account are made following the grant of the associated clearing permit, 
and after any related appeals have been received and determined. 
Revenue from the offsets is recognised at a point‑in‑time i.e., when the 
Department issues an invoice to the permit holder requesting payment of 
the contribution into the fund.

(b)	 In 2012, the WA Minister for the Environment mandated that proponents in 
the Pilbara region pay their environmental offsets into a strategic fund for 
conservation. In the same year, the Federal Minister for the Environment 
gave proponents the option of doing so. This led to the establishment of 
the Pilbara Environmental Offsets Fund. The fund combines money from 
individual offset payments required under Part IV of the Environmental 
Protection Act 1986 and may combine contributions required under part 
9 or 10 of the Commonwealth Environmental Protection and Biodiversity 
Conservation Act 1999. The establishment of the fund enables the State 
Government to combine offset money and partner with regional land 
management organisations to deliver projects that achieve better and 
more connected biodiversity conservation outcomes. The Department is 
responsible for managing the fund to ensure that offset payments directly 
benefit vegetation and habitat impacted by mining.

	 Despite conditions being included in Ministerial Statements from 2012, 
the Pilbara Environmental Offset Fund was only established on 18 April 
2018. The Ministerial Statements define the proponents of the fund. 
Implementation conditions within these Ministerial Statements require the 
preparation of an Impact Reconciliation Report to determine the quantum 
of money owed to the fund by proponents. 

	 Revenue from Pilbara Environmental Offsets Fund is recognised at a 
point‑in‑time, i.e., recognised when the Department has the right to 
invoice the proponent. The Department has the right to invoice the 
proponent following submission and acceptance of the proponent’s Impact 
Reconciliation Report.

(c)	 Income received by the Department from sub‑leasing of right‑of‑use assets 
to lease payments from operating leases. The Department has leased 
several right‑of‑use asset from the Government Regional Officer Housing 
(GROH) and State Fleet (SF), which it subleases out to employees at a 
subsidised rate. Information on the Department’s leasing arrangements 
with GROH and SF can be found in note 2.1(a).

(d)	 In terms of the Murujuga Rock Art Monitoring Program memorandum of 
understanding (MoU) dated 7 February 2020, industry participants have 
agreed to contribute to the estimated costs associated with the program 
until the earlier of five years from the MoU date of execution; the parties 
ending the relationship by mutual consent or any statutory obligations 
that come into effect by an amendment to the Environmental Protection 
Act 1986.
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4 Key assets

Assets the Department utilises for economic benefit or service 
potential

This section includes information regarding the key assets the Department 
utilises to gain economic benefits or provide service potential. The section 
sets out both the key accounting policies and financial information about the 
performance of these assets: 

   Notes  2025 
$’000

 2024 
$’000

Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment 4.1 532,523 474,559

Right‑of‑use assets 4.2 3,630 2,995

Intangible assets 4.3 45,373 33,643

Total key assets  581,526 511,197
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4.1 Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment

  Capital works 
in progress Works of art Computer 

equipment Vehicles Infrastructure Plant and 
equipment

Measurement 
sites

Leasehold 
improvements Buildings Land Total

Year ended 30 June 2025 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

1 July 2024            
Gross carrying amount 22,928 150 1,251 290 4,132 6,060 218,282 1,410 5,801 222,679 482,983

Accumulated depreciation - - (842) (218) (377) (3,381) (76) (131) - - (5,025)

Accumulated impairment losses - - - - - - (3,399) - - - (3,399)

Carrying amount at start of period 22,928 150 409 72 3,755 2,679 214,807 1,279 5,801 222,679 474,559
 

Additions 18,450 13 121 24 177 326 74 68 69 73 19,395

Transfers in/(out)(a) (13,324) - 106 - 3,862 1,464 7,718 174 - - -

Transfer as distribution to 
owner(b) - - - - - - - - - (1) (1)

Disposals - - - - - - (210) - - - (210)

Revaluation increments - - - - - - 3,404 - 271 42,238 45,913

Impairment losses(c) - - - - - - - - - - -

Depreciation - - (176) (35) (534) (614) (5,524) (104) (146) - (7,133)

Carrying amount at end of 
period 2025

28,054 163 460 61 7,260 3,855 220,269 1,417 5,995 264,989 532,523

Gross carrying amount 28,054 163 1,479 315 8,171 7,825 223,772 1,652 5,995 264,989 542,415

Accumulated depreciation - - (1,019) (254) (911) (3,970) (149) (235) - - (6,538)

Accumulated impairment losses - - - - - - (3,354) - - - (3,354)

(a)	 Transfers in / (out) from tangible capital works in progress to completed assets.

(b)	 Refer to note 8.10, land transferred to Water Corporation WA.

(c)	 Refer to note 4.1.1 for details regarding impairment losses.
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Initial recognition

Items of infrastructure, property, plant and equipment costing $5,000 or 
more are measured initially at cost. Where an asset is acquired for no cost or 
significantly less than fair value, the cost is valued at its fair value at the date 
of acquisition. Items of infrastructure, property, plant and equipment costing 
less than $5,000 are immediately expensed to the Statement of comprehensive 
income (other than where they form part of a group of similar items which are 
significant in total).

The cost of a leasehold improvement is capitalised and depreciated over the 
shorter of the remaining term of the lease or the estimated useful life of the 
leasehold improvement.

Subsequent measurement

Subsequent to initial recognition of an asset, the revaluation model is used for 
the measurement of: 

•	 land 

•	 buildings

•	 measurement sites.

Land is carried at fair value. 

Buildings and measurement sites are carried at fair value less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 

All other property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Measurement sites are independently valued every five years by an external 
services valuer. In the intervening years, the measurement sites are revalued 
internally by use of other heavy and civil engineering construction building 
cost index provided by the Australian Bureau of Statistics. The last time 
groundwater measurement sites were independently valued was by Ernst & 
Young for the 30 June 2023 financial year end. Fair value for measurement 
sites is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future 
economic benefits embodied in the asset, i.e., the current replacement cost. 

Revaluation model:  
Where the fair value of measurement sites is determined on the current 
replacement cost basis, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against 
the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the 
revalued amount.

Land and buildings are independently valued annually by the Western 
Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate) and recognised annually to 
ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially from the asset’s fair 
value at the end of the reporting period.

Land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2024 by Landgate. The 
valuations were performed during the year ended 30 June 2025 and 
recognised at 30 June 2025. In undertaking the revaluation, fair value 
was determined by reference to market values for land: $73,464,500 
(2024: $61,956,600) and buildings: $1,750,000 (2024: $2,490,000). Market 
evidence of sales prices of comparable assets in close proximity is used to 
determine price per square meter for market type land and buildings. For the 
remaining balance, unobservable (level 3) inputs were used to determine the 
fair value. 

Revaluation model:  
Where the fair value of buildings is determined on the current replacement 
cost basis, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross 
carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued 
amount.
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Unobservable (level 3) inputs used to determine fair values of infrastructure, 
property, plant and equipment are:

Land:

Fair value for restricted use land is determined by 
comparison with market evidence for land with low level 
utility. Relevant comparators of land with low level utility 
are selected by the Western Australian Land Information 
Authority (Valuation Services). The fair value measurement 
is sensitive to values of comparator land, with higher values 
of comparator land correlating with higher estimated fair 
values of land.

Buildings:

Fair value for current use buildings is determined by 
reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future 
economic benefits embodied in the asset. Current 
replacement cost is generally determined by reference to 
the market observable replacement cost of a substitute 
asset of comparable utility and the gross project size 
specifications, adjusted for obsolescence. Obsolescence 
encompasses physical deterioration, functional 
(technological) obsolescence and economic (external) 
obsolescence.

Valuation using current replacement cost utilises the 
significant Level 3 input of obsolescence estimated by 
Landgate. The fair value measurement is sensitive to 
the estimate of obsolescence, with higher values of the 
estimate correlating with lower estimated fair values of 
buildings.

Measurement 
sites:

Historical cost of the assets.

The costs of construction of the measurement sites are 
extracted from the financial records of the Department and 
indexed by movement in construction costs by valuers.

Significant assumptions and judgements: The most significant assumptions 
and judgements in estimating fair value are made in assessing whether to 
apply the existing use basis and in determining estimated economic life to 
assets. Professional judgement by the valuer is required where the evidence 

does not provide a clear distinction between market type assets and existing 
use assets.

Basis of valuation

In the absence of market‑based evidence, due to the specialised nature of 
some non financial assets, these assets are valued at Level 3 of the fair value 
hierarchy on a current use basis (presumed to be the highest and best use), 
which recognises that restrictions or limitations have been placed on their 
use and disposal when they are not determined to be surplus to requirements. 
These restrictions are imposed by virtue of the assets being held to deliver a 
specific community service.

4.1.1 Depreciation and impairment

Charge for the period

  2025  
$’000

2024 
$’000

Depreciation   

Buildings 146 124

Infrastructure 534 71

Plant and equipment 614 609

Vehicles and boating 35 25

Computer equipment 176 70

Leasehold improvements 104 61

Measurement sites 5,524 5,483

Total depreciation for the period 7,133 6,443

At 30 June 2025, there were no indications of impairment (2024: $1.490 million).  

Useful lives

All infrastructure, property, plant and equipment having a limited useful life are 
systematically depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a manner that 
reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits. The exceptions to 
this rule include assets held for sale, land and investment properties.
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Depreciation is calculated on a straight‑line basis, at rates that allocate the 
asset’s value, less any estimated residual value, over its estimated useful life. 
Typical estimated useful lives for the different asset classes for current and 
prior years are included in the table below:

Asset Useful Life: Years

Buildings 20 – 40 years

Leasehold improvement(b) 10 – 20 years

Measurement sites 40 years

Plant and equipment 5 – 20 years

Computer equipment (hardware and software(a)) 3 – 5 years

Infrastructure 10 – 50 years

Vehicles and boating 5 – 6 years

(a)	 Software that is integral to the operation of related hardware.

(b)	 Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the lease 
term and their useful lives.

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are 
reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, and adjustments are 
made where appropriate.

Land and works of art, which are considered to have an indefinite life, are 
not depreciated. Depreciation is not recognised in respect of these assets 
because their service potential has not, in any material sense, been consumed 
during the reporting period.

Impairment

Non‑financial assets, including items of infrastructure, plant and equipment, 
are tested for impairment whenever there is an indication that the asset may be 
impaired. Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount 
is estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, 
the asset is considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable 
amount and an impairment loss is recognised. 

Where an asset is measured at cost and is written down to its recoverable 
amount, an impairment loss is recognised through profit and loss.

Where a previously revalued asset is written down to its recoverable 
amount, the loss is recognised as a revaluation decrement through other 
comprehensive income to the extent that the impairment loss does not exceed 
the amount in the revaluation surplus for the class of asset.

As the Department is a not‑for‑profit agency, the recoverable amount of 
regularly revalued specialised assets is anticipated to be materially the same 
as fair value.

If there is an indication that there has been a reversal in impairment, the 
carrying amount shall be increased to its recoverable amount. However, this 
reversal should not increase the asset’s carrying amount above what would 
have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment 
loss had been recognised in prior years.

4.2 Right‑of‑use assets

Year ended 30 June 2025
Buildings

Computer 
and office 
equipment

Motor 
Vehicles Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Net carrying amount at beginning 
of period 233 267 2,495 2,995

Additions 576 402 1,085 2,063

Disposals - (93) - (93)

Depreciation (287) (177) (871) (1,335)

Net carrying amount at end of 
period

522 399 2,709 3,630

The Department has leases for vehicles, computer equipment, office and 
residential accommodations. The lease contracts are typically made for fixed 
periods of one to six years with an option to renew the lease after that date. 
Lease payments for buildings not leased through the Department of Finance 
are renegotiated when appropriate to reflect market rentals.

The Department subleases residential housing to employees at a subsidised 
rate. The Department recognises lease payments from operating leases as 
income on a straight‑line basis over the term of the lease.
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The Department has also entered into Memorandum of Understanding 
(MOU) agreements with the Department of Finance for the leasing of office 
accommodation. These are not recognised under AASB 16 because of 
substitution rights held by the Department of Finance and are accounted for as 
an expense as incurred.

Initial recognition

At the commencement date of the lease, the Department recognises 
right‑of‑use assets and a corresponding lease liability for most leases. The 
right‑of‑use assets are measured at cost comprising of: 

•	 the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

•	 any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any 
lease incentives received;

•	 any initial direct costs, and 

•	 restoration costs, including dismantling and removing the underlying 
asset. 

The corresponding lease liabilities in relation to these right‑of‑use assets have 
been disclosed in note 6.1.

The Department has elected not to recognise right‑of‑use assets and lease 
liabilities for short‑term leases (with a lease term of 12 months or less) and 
low‑value leases (with an underlying value of $5,000 or less). Lease payments 
associated with these leases are expensed over a straight‑line basis over the 
lease term. 

Subsequent measurement 

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement of right‑of‑use assets, 
requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation 
and accumulated impairment losses and adjusted for any re‑measurement of 
lease liability. 

Depreciation and impairment of right‑of‑use assets 

Right‑of‑use assets are depreciated on a straight‑line basis over the shorter of 
the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the underlying assets. 

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Department at the end of the 
lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation 
is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset. 

Right‑of‑use assets are tested for impairment when an indication of impairment 
is identified. The policy in connection with testing for impairment is outlined in 
note 4.1.1.

The following amounts relating to leases have been recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income:

  2025 
$’000

2024 
$’000

Buildings 287 342

Computer and office equipment 177 271

Motor vehicles 871 814

Total right‑of‑use assets depreciation for the period 1,335 1,427

The total cash outflow for leases in the 2025 financial year was $1.5 million 
(2024: $1.5 million).
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4.3 Intangible assets

Capital Works 
in Progress

Analytical 
Products Licences Computer 

Software Total

Year ended 30 June 
2025 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

1 July 2024      

Gross carrying 
amount 9,195 10,044 181 46,280 65,700

Accumulated 
amortisation - (6,410) (136) (25,511) (32,057)

Carrying amount at 
start of period 9,195 3,634 45 20,769 33,643

 
Additions 15,553 - - 868 16,421

Transfers in/(out)(a) (10,955) - - 10,955 -

Amortisation expense  (1,005) (36) (3,650) (4,691)

Carrying amount 
at end of period

13,793 2,629 9 28,942 45,373

Gross carrying 
amount 13,793 10,045 181 58,102 82,121

Accumulated 
amortisation - (7,416) (172) (29,160) (36,748)

(a) Transfer in/(out) from capital works in progress to completed assets.

Initial recognition

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at 
significantly less than fair value, the cost is their fair value at the date of 
acquisition. An internally generated intangible asset arising from development 
(or from the development phase of an internal project) is recognised if, and only 
if, all of the following are demonstrated:

a)	 the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be 
available for use or sale

b)	 an intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it

c)	 the ability to use or sell the intangible asset

d)	 the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefit

e)	 the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to 
complete the development and to use or sell the intangible asset

f)	 the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the 
intangible asset during its development.

Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally 
generated intangible assets costing $5,000 or more that comply with the 
recognition criteria as per AASB 138 (as noted above), are capitalised. Costs 
incurred below these thresholds are immediately expensed directly to the 
Statement of comprehensive income. Costs incurred in the research phase of 
a project are immediately expensed.

Subsequent measurement

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement of intangible assets 
requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses.
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5. Other assets and liabilities4.3.1 Amortisation and impairment

  2025 
$’000

 2024  
$’000

Charge for the period   

Analytical products 1,005 1,011

Computer software 3,650 2,088

Licences 36 50

Total amortisation for the period 4,691 3,149

Useful lives

The Department held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful 
life during the reporting period. At the end of the reporting period there were 
no intangible assets not yet available for use.

Amortisation of finite life intangible assets is calculated on a straight‑line 
basis at rates that allocate the asset’s value over its estimated useful life. All 
intangible assets controlled by the Department have a finite useful life and zero 
residual value. Estimated useful lives are reviewed annually. The estimated 
useful lives for each class of intangible asset are:

Licences 3 years

Computer Software(a) 3 – 10 years

Analytical products(b) 10 years

(a)	 Software that is not integral to the operation of related hardware.

(b)	 Analytical products are intangible assets such as geophysical datasets 
and surveys which are usually produced as part of project work. These 
products are used by the Department to improve its understanding and 
management of water resources.

Impairment of intangible assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are tested for impairment annually or 
when an indication of impairment is identified. The policy in connection with 
testing for impairment is outlined in note 4.1.1. As at 30 June 2025 there were 
no indications of impairment to intangible assets.

This section sets out those assets and liabilities that arose from the 
Department’s controlled operations and includes other assets utilised for 
economic benefits and liabilities incurred during normal operations:

Notes 2025 
$’000

2024
$’000

Receivables 5.1 49,189 50,707

Amounts receivable for services 5.2 104,790 97,556

Other assets 5.3 5,506 5,021

Payables 5.4 10,115 8,880

Contract liabilities 5.5 3,299 2,382

Other current liabilities 5.6 24 1

5.1 Receivables

  2025 
$’000

2024 
$’000 

Current   

Trade receivables 11,362 13,416

Allowance for impairment of trade receivables (657) (1,276)

Accrued revenue 31,371 33,230

Allowance for impairment of accrued revenue (116) (436)

GST receivable 1,822 1,520

Total current 43,782 46,454

Non‑current   

Accrued salaries suspense account(a) 5,407 4,253

Total non‑current 5,407 4,253

Total receivables 49,189 50,707

132 | Annual report 2024–25 | Department of Water and Environmental Regulation Home Overview Priorities Issues Performance Disclosures Other Appendices

https://www.wa.gov.au/government/publications/water-and-environmental-regulation-annual-report-2024-25
https://www.wa.gov.au/government/publications/water-and-environmental-regulation-annual-report-2024-25
https://www.wa.gov.au/government/publications/water-and-environmental-regulation-annual-report-2024-25
https://www.wa.gov.au/government/publications/water-and-environmental-regulation-annual-report-2024-25
https://www.wa.gov.au/government/publications/water-and-environmental-regulation-annual-report-2024-25
https://www.wa.gov.au/government/publications/water-and-environmental-regulation-annual-report-2024-25


(a)	 Funds transferred to Treasury for the purpose of meeting the 27th pay in 
a reporting period that generally occurs every 11th year. This account is 
classified as non‑current except for the year before the 27th pay year. 

Trade receivables are initially recognised at their transaction price or, for those 
receivables that contain a significant financing component, at fair value. The 
Department holds the receivables with the objective to collect the contractual 
cash flows and therefore subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less an allowance for impairment. 

The Department recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) 
on a receivable not held at fair value through profit and loss. The ECLs based 
on the difference between the contractual cash flows and the cash flows that 
the entity expects to receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate. 
Individual receivables are written off when the Department has no reasonable 
expectations of recovering the contractual cash flows.

For trade receivables, the Department recognises an allowance for ECLs 
measured at the lifetime expected credit losses at each reporting date. The 
Department has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical 
credit loss experience and adjusted for forward‑looking factors specific to the 
debtors and the economic environment. Please refer to note 2.3 for the amount 
of ECLs expensed in this financial year.

The accrued salaries suspense account consists of amounts paid annually into 
a Treasurer’s special purpose account to meet the additional cash outflow for 
employee salary payments in reporting periods with 27 pay days instead of the 
normal 26. No interest is received on this account.

5.2 Amounts receivable for services (holding account)

  2025 
$’000

2024 
$’000

Current 6,238 7,753

Non‑current 98,552 89,803

Total amounts receivable for services at end of period 104,790 97,556

Amounts receivable for services represent the non‑cash component of service 
appropriations. It is restricted in that it can only be used for asset replacement 
or payment of leave liability.

The amounts receivable for services are financial assets at amortised cost and 
are not considered impaired (i.e., there is no expected credit loss of the holding 
account). 

5.3 Other assets

  2025 
$’000

2024 
$’000

Current   

Prepayments 5,462 4,900

Total current 5,462 4,900
 

Non‑current   

Prepayments 44 121

Total non‑current 44 121

Total other assets at end of period 5,506 5,021

Other non‑financial assets include prepayments which represent payments 
in advance of receipt of goods or services or that part of expenditure made in 
one accounting period covering a term extending beyond that period.
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5.4 Payables

   2025  
$’000

 2024  
$’000

Current   

Trade payables(a) 571 538

Other payables(a) 30 67

Accrued expenses 5,488 5,294

Accrued salaries(b) 4,026 2,981

Total payables at end of period 10,115 8,880

(a)	 Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Department 
becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of a purchase of 
assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as 
settlement is generally within 15–30 days.

(b)	 Accrued salaries represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end 
of the reporting period. Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of 
the reporting period end. The Department considers the carrying amount 
of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its fair value.

5.5 Contract liabilities

  2025 
$’000

2024 
$’000

Reconciliation of changes in contract liabilities   

Opening balance 2,382 5,403

Additions 3,299 2,382

Revenue recognised in the period (2,382) (5,403)

Total contract liabilities at end of period 3,299 2,382

 
Current 3,299 2,382

Non‑current ‑ -

The Department’s contract liabilities primarily relate to user charges and fees 
yet to be performed as the licence, works approval or tracking form has not 
been issued to the customer.

5.6 Other current liabilities

  2025 
$’000

2024 
$’000

Stale cheque holding account 24 1

Total current liabilities at end of period 24 1
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6 Financing

This section sets out the material balances and disclosures associated with 
the financing and cash flows of the Department.

  Notes 2025 
$’000

2024 
$’000

Lease liabilities 6.1 3,783 3,085

Assets pledged as security 6.2 3,630 2,995

Finance costs 6.3 249 170

Cash and cash equivalents 6.4 133,367 119,671

Capital commitments 6.5 11,893 17,212

6.1 Lease liabilities

  2025 
$’000

2024 
$’000

No later than one year 1,073 891

Later than on year and not later than five years 2,665 2,049

Later than 5 years 45 145

 3,783 3,085

Current 1,073 891

Non‑current 2,710 2,194

Balance at end of period 3,783 3,085

Initial measurement

At the commencement date of the lease, the Department recognises lease 
liabilities measured at the present value of the lease payments to be made 
over the lease term. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate 
implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the Department 
uses the incremental borrowing rate provided by the Western Australia 
Treasury Corporation. 

Lease payments included by the Department as part of the present value 
calculation of lease liability include: 

•	 fixed payments (including in‑substance fixed payments), less any lease 
incentives receivable

•	 variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate initially 
measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date 

•	 amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value 
guarantees

•	 the exercise price of purchase options (where these are reasonably 
certain to be exercised)

•	 payments for penalties for terminating a lease, where the lease term 
reflects the Department exercising an option to terminate the lease

•	 periods covered by extension or termination options are only included in 
the lease term by the Department if the lease is reasonably certain to be 
extended (or not terminated). 

The interest on the lease liability is recognised in profit or loss over the lease 
term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining 
balance of the liability for each period. Lease liabilities do not include any 
future changes in variable lease payments (that depend on an index or rate) 
until they take effect, in which case the lease liability is reassessed and 
adjusted against the right‑of‑use asset. 

Variable lease payments, not included in the measurement of lease liability, 
which are dependent on sales, an index or rate are recognised by the 
Department in profit or loss in the period in which the condition that triggers 
those payments occurs. 
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Subsequent measurement

Lease liabilities are measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect 
interest on the lease liabilities; reducing the carrying amount to reflect the 
lease payments made; and remeasuring the carrying amount at amortised 
cost, subject to adjustments to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications.

This section should be read in conjunction with note 4.2.

2025 
$’000

2024 
$’000

Lease expenses recognised in the Statement of 
comprehensive income   

Lease interest expense 249 170

Short term leases 67 91

Low value leases - 3

Net loss on disposal of lease arrangement - 4

Short‑term leases are recognised on a straight‑line basis with a lease term of 
12 months or less.

Low‑value leases with an underlying value of $5,000 or less are recognised 
on a straight‑line basis.

6.2 Assets pledged as security

  2025 
$’000

2024  
$’000

The carrying amounts of non‑current assets pledged as 
security are:   

Right‑of‑use asset vehicles 2,709 2,495

Right‑of‑use asset computer and office equipment 399 267

Right‑of‑use asset buildings 522 233

Total assets pledged as security 3,630 2,995

The Department has secured the right‑of‑use assets against related lease 
liabilities. In the event of default, the rights to the leased assets will revert to the 
lessor.
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For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents (and 
restricted cash and cash equivalent) assets comprise of short‑term deposits 
with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to a 
known amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in 
value.

6.5 Capital commitments

2025 
$’000

2024 
$’000

Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital 
expenditure additional to the amounts reported in the financial 
statements, are payable as follows:

  

Within 1 year 4,946 3,724

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 6,947 13,488

Total capital commitments 11,893 17,212

6.3 Finance costs

  2025 
$’000

2024 
$’000

Lease interest expense 249 170

Finance cost includes the interest component of lease liability repayments.

6.4 Cash and cash equivalents

  2025 
$’000

2024 
$’000

Current   

Cash and cash equivalents 34,897 23,487

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 98,470 96,184

Total current 133,367 119,671
 

Balance at end of period 133,367 119,671

Restricted cash and cash Equivalents Notes 2025 
$’000

2024  
$’000

Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Account 8.7 45,009 41,352

Pilbara Environmental Offsets Fund 8.7 16,189 12,097 

Establishing and Maintaining Vegetation Offsets 
Account 13,633 12,205

Clean Energy Future Fund 8,636 8,636 

Environmental Protection Part IV Cost Recovery 
Account 8.7 7,390 13,707 

Contaminated Sites Management Account 8.7 773 524

Royalties for Regions 8.7 2,862 3,382

Agricultural Areas Dams 1,709 1,400 

Other funds 2,269 2,881 

Total Restricted cash and cash equivalents  98,470 96,184
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7 Financial instruments and contingencies

7.2 Contingent assets and liabilities

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the 
Statement of financial position but are disclosed and, if quantifiable, are 
measured at the best estimate.

Contingent assets and liabilities are presented inclusive of GST receivable or 
payable, respectively.

Waste levy

The Department is responsible for administering and regulating Waste Levy 
in Western Australia. Liability for Waste Levy is legislated through the Waste 
Avoidance and Resource Recovery Act 2007 and the Waste Avoidance and 
Resource Recovery Levy Act 2007 and regulated through the Waste Avoidance 
and Resource Recovery Regulations 2008 and the Waste Avoidance and 
Resource Recovery Levy Regulations 2008. There may be contingent assets or 
contingent liabilities arising from it.

7.2.1 Contingent assets

The following contingent assets are excluded from the assets included in the 
financial statements:

Waste levy

The Department conducts investigations on licensed and unlicensed landfill 
premises and the outcome of such investigations may be that the operator of 
the premises is liable for the payment of waste levy and applicable penalties. 
The Department has determined that it is not practicable to estimate the 
financial effect of these investigations at the end of the reporting period, due 
to the complex nature of the investigations and the lengthy period of time that 
may be taken to finalise the investigations.

This note sets out the key risk management policies and measurement 
techniques of the Department.

  Notes

Financial instruments 7.1

Contingent assets and liabilities 7.2

7.1 Financial instruments

The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets 
and financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period are:

2025 
$’000

2024 
$’000

Financial assets   

Cash and cash equivalents 133,367 119,671

Financial assets at amortised cost(a) 151,689 146,354

Total financial assets 285,056 266,025
 
Financial liabilities   

Financial liabilities at amortised cost(b) 13,922 11,966

Total financial liabilities 13,922 11,966

(a)	 The amount of Financial assets at amortised cost excludes the GST 
recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

(b)	 The amount of Financial liabilities at amortised cost excludes GST payable 
to the ATO (statutory payable).

Measurement

All financial assets and liabilities are carried without subsequent 
remeasurement.
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7.2.2 Contingent liabilities

The following contingent liabilities are excluded from the liabilities included in 
the financial statements:

  2025 
$’000

2024 
$’000

Costs potentially payable in relation to Supreme Court action 
commenced by the plaintiffs against the Department's 
Vegetation Conservation Notices

- 200

Costs potentially payable in relation contaminated sites for the 
remediation of a liquid waste treatment facility in agreement 
with the Water Corporation

586 660

Potential Waste Levy Revenue reversal for the City of 
Armadale as they filed a retroactive waste levy exemption 
which is pending Director General approval

3,689 -

Total contingent liabilities 4,275 860

Waste levy

The Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Levy Regulations 2008 allows 
for landfill operators to apply for exemptions in relation to construction 
materials, which can be granted prospectively and retrospectively. Where 
applications have been made retrospectively the Department may have a 
liability in respect of the waste levy previously paid, if they have been compliant 
with the exemption requirements. 

The Department is in the process of assessing an application for a 
retrospective exemption. If the exemption is granted, the amount of the 
obligation is estimated to be $3,689,329.
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8 Other disclosures

8.1 Events occurring after the end of the reporting period

Forgiveness of debts – Environmental Protection (Cost Recovery) Regulation 
2021 (Regulations):

(i)	 Fees charged for proposals – Part 2 – Division 4 – Regulation 15: Interest

As per note 8.11(d), on 5 September 2025 the Director General approved waiving 
interest fees on outstanding amounts relating to proposals under Part IV of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1986.

(ii)	 Fees charged for annual compliance fees – Part 2 – Division 4 – Regulation 15: 
Interest

As per note 8.11(d), on 5 September 2025 the Director General approved waiving 
interest fees on outstanding amounts relating to Annual Compliance Fees (ACF) in 
accordance with Part 2 – Division 3 – Regulation 11 of the Regulations 2011

8.2 Initial application of Australian Accounting Standards

The following standards are operative for reporting periods ended on or after 
30 June 2025:

•	 AASB 2020‑1 ‑ Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non‑current

•	 AASB 2022‑10 ‑ Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Fair 
Value Measurement of Non‑Financial Assets of Not‑for‑Profit Public Sector 
Entities

There is no material financial impact of the above standards.

8.3 Key management personnel

The Department has determined key management personnel to include 
Cabinet Ministers and senior officers of the Department. The Department does 

This section includes additional material disclosures required by accounting 
standards or other pronouncements for the understanding of this financial 
report.

  Notes

Events occurring after the end of the reporting period 8.1

Initial application of Australian Accounting Standards 8.2

Key management personnel 8.3

Related party transactions 8.4

Related bodies 8.5

Affiliated bodies 8.6

Special purpose accounts 8.7

Indian Ocean Territories Account 8.8

Remuneration of auditors 8.9

Contributed equity and reserves 8.10

Supplementary financial information 8.11
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not incur expenditures to compensate Ministers and those disclosures may be 
found in the Annual Report on State Finances.

The total fees, salaries, superannuation, non‑monetary benefits and other 
benefits for senior officers of the Department for the reporting period are 
presented within the following bands:

Compensation band ($) 2025 2024

$450,000 – $500,000 1 -

$300,001 – $350,000 2 1

$250,001 – $300,000 - 1

$200,001 – $250,000 2 2

$150,001 – $200,000 - 2

$100,001 – $150,000 - 2

$50,001 – $100,000 - -

$0 – $50,000 - 8

2025 
$’000

2024 
$’000

Total compensation of senior officers 1,591 1,999

Last financial year there was a change in leadership structure resulting in the 
reduced number of key management personnel.

8.4 Related party transactions

The Department is a wholly owned public sector entity that is controlled by the 
State of Western Australia.

Related parties of the Department include:

•	 all Cabinet Ministers and their close family members and their controlled 
or jointly controlled entities

•	 all senior officers and their close family members and their controlled or 
jointly controlled entities

•	 other departments and statutory authorities including related bodies 
that are included in the whole‑of‑government consolidated financial 
statements (i.e. wholly owned public sector entities)

•	 associates and joint ventures of a wholly owned public sector entity

•	 the Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB).

Material transactions with other related parties

Outside of normal citizen type transactions with the Department, there were 
no other related party transactions that involved key management personnel 
and/or their close family members and/or their controlled (or jointly controlled) 
entities.

8.5 Related bodies

The Department currently does not provide any assistance to other agencies 
which would deem it to be regarded as related bodies. 

8.6 Affiliated bodies

The following bodies receive more than half its funding and resources from the 
Department, but is not subject to operational control by the Department and is 
therefore considered to be affiliated bodies under the Financial Management 
Act 2006:
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  2025 
$’000

2024 
$’000

  Funding
Services 

free of 
charge

Total 
assistance Funding

Services 
free of 
charge

Total 
assistance

Government 
organisations:       

Cockburn Sound 
Management 
Council

27 - 27 457 - 457

Contaminated Sites 
Committee 359 - 359 347 - 347

Environmental 
Protection Authority 14,605 - 14,605 10,114 - 10,114

Exmouth Gulf 
Coordinating Body 1,103 - 1,103 727 - 727

Keep Australia 
Beautiful Council 
(W.A.)

1,243 601 1,844 1,276 601 1,877

Office of the Appeals 
Convenor 2,981 - 2,981 1,896 - 1,896

Warren Donnelly 
Water Advisory 
Committee

13 - 13 7 - 7

Waste Authority 26,266 - 26,266 22,491 - 22,491
 

Non-government 
organisations:       

Geographe 
Catchment Council1 798 - 798 626 - 626

1	 The Department and Geographe Catchment Council entered into a 
partnership agreement whereby Geographe Catchment Council provides 
governance and management support to the Department and the 
Department provides support and links to the community and on‑ground 
outcomes to achieve water quality improvements in the catchment area.

8.7 Special purpose accounts

Contaminated Sites Management Account(i)

The purpose of the account is to enable investigation or remediation of any 
site where the state or a public authority (excluding local government) is 
responsible for remediation. The account also funds the Department’s costs of 
investigation and ensuring compliance with notices.

2025 
$’000

2024 
$’000

Balance at start of period 524 423

Receipts 277 361

Payments (28) (260)

Balance at end of period 773 524

Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Account(i)

The purpose of the account is to encourage the conservation of resources 
and energy through waste reduction and recycling; to promote support and 
encourage viable alternatives to landfill disposal of waste; and to encourage 
applied research and the development of appropriate waste management, 
waste reduction, recycling infrastructure and markets. The account is used to 
fund nominated programs and other waste management initiatives approved 
by the Minister for the Environment on the advice of the Waste Authority of 
Western Australia.

2025 
$’000

2024 
$’000

Balance at start of period 41,352 41,918

Receipts 26,266 22,491

Payments (22,609) (23,057)

Balance at end of period 45,009 41,352

Pilbara Environmental Offsets Fund(ii)

The purpose of the trust account is to facilitate the coordinated delivery of 
environmental offset projects which will benefit the environmental values of the 

142 | Annual report 2024–25 | Department of Water and Environmental Regulation Home Overview Priorities Issues Performance Disclosures Other Appendices

https://www.wa.gov.au/government/publications/water-and-environmental-regulation-annual-report-2024-25
https://www.wa.gov.au/government/publications/water-and-environmental-regulation-annual-report-2024-25
https://www.wa.gov.au/government/publications/water-and-environmental-regulation-annual-report-2024-25
https://www.wa.gov.au/government/publications/water-and-environmental-regulation-annual-report-2024-25
https://www.wa.gov.au/government/publications/water-and-environmental-regulation-annual-report-2024-25
https://www.wa.gov.au/government/publications/water-and-environmental-regulation-annual-report-2024-25


Pilbara to counterbalance the residual impacts of activities occurring wholly or 
partly within the Pilbara for which approvals have been granted.

2025 
$’000

2024 
$’000

Balance at start of period 12,097 7,865

Receipts 6,213 5,397

Payments (2,121) (1,165)

Balance at end of period 16,189 12,097

Environmental Protection Part IV Cost Recovery Account(ii)

The purpose of this account is to manage funds recovered under the 
Environmental Protection (Cost Recovery) Regulations 2021. The funds in this 
account are to be used for defraying the costs incurred by the Department 
in receiving and assessing proposals and monitoring the implementation 
of proposals under Part IV Division 1 or 2 of the Environmental Protection 
Act 1986. 

2025 
$’000 

2024 
$’000

Balance at start of period 13,707 10,714

Receipts 11,674 16,275

Payments (17,991) (13,282)

Balance at end of period 7,390 13,707

(i)	 Established under section 16(1)(b) of the Financial Management Act 2006

(ii)	 Established under section 16(1)(d) of the Financial Management Act 2006

8.8 Indian Ocean Territories Account

Indian Ocean Territories Account

The purpose of the account is to account for Commonwealth funds for service 
delivery arrangements by the Department to the Indian Ocean Territories.

  2025 
$’000 

2024 
$’000

Balance at start of period 120 172

Receipts 1,759 1,501

Payments (1,777) (1,553)

Balance at end of period(a) 102 120

(a)	 Under the terms of the Service Delivery Arrangement, the Department is to 
provide a statement of operating and capital expenditure and revenue for 
the previous financial year to the Commonwealth by 31 August each year. 

	 This notification enables adjustments to biannual payments to be made 
early in the financial year to take into account any under or overspends 
against budget estimates from the previous financial year.

8.9 Remuneration of auditors

Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for 
the current financial year is as follows:

  2025 
$’000 

2024 
$’000

Auditing the accounts, financial statements, controls and key 
performance indicators 478 415

8.10 Contributed equity and reserves

2025 
$’000

2024 
$’000

Contributed equity   

Balance at start of period 226,243 235,240

Contributions by owners   

Capital appropriation 22,377 11,046
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2025 
$’000

2024 
$’000

Total contributions by owners 248,620 246,286
 

Distributions to owners   

Transfer to consolidated account (25,803) (19,357)

Transfer to other agencies:   

Land transferred to Department of Planning, Lands and 
Heritage - (450)

Land transferred to Department of Biodiversity, Conservation 
and Attractions - (236)

Water Corporation WA (1) -

Total distributions to owners (25,804) (20,043)
 

Balance at end of period 222,816 226,243

Asset revaluation surplus   

Balance at start of period 137,075 97,930

Net revaluation increment:   

Land 42,238 31,459

Buildings 271 776

Measurement sites 3,404 6,910

Total net revaluation increment 45,913 39,145

Balance at end of period 182,988 137,075

8.11 Supplementary financial information

(a) Write‑offs

During the reporting period, $5,000 (2024: $1,000) was written off the 
Department’s books under the authority of the Director General:

  2025 
$’000

2024 
$’000

The accountable authority 5 1

The Minister - -

The Treasurer - -

Total write‑offs 5 1

(b) Losses through theft, defaults and other causes

  2025 
$’000

2024 
$’000

Losses of public money, other money and other property 
through theft or default - 7

Amounts recovered - (2)

Total losses - 5

(c) Gifts of public property

During the financial year under review there were no gifts of public property 
provided by the Department (2024: Nil).

(d) Forgiveness of debts

Environmental Protection (Cost Recovery) Regulations 2021 
(Regulations)
(i)	 Fees charged for proposals – Part 2 – Division 4 – Regulation 15: Interest

On 1 January 2022, the Department commenced charging proponents fees for 
proposals assessed under Part IV of the Environmental Protection Act 1986 in 
accordance with the Regulations. Part 2 – Division 4 – Regulation 15 provides for 
a fee to be charged for interest on outstanding amounts payable at the prescribed 
interest rate, being 3% higher than the cash rate target, as determined and 
published by the Reserve Bank of Australia, in effect on the 1st day the amount 
became outstanding. 

In accordance with the Regulations, Part 2 – Division 4 – Regulation 13, the 
Chief Executive Officer (i.e., the Director General) may, on a case by case basis, 
refund, reduce or waive, in whole or in part, a fee paid or payable under this part if 
considered appropriate to do so.

On 2 July 2024, the Director General approved the waiving of interest fees on the 
outstanding amounts for 2022–23 and 2023–24 as the Department did not have the 
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resource capacity to determine the complex interest on the outstanding amounts 
payable for all invoices issued. Additionally, issuing an invoice to proponents 
charging interest after such a long delay could potentially put the Department's 
reputation at risk. 

For the financial year 2024–25 the Department was not yet able to reliably calculate 
for the complex interest rate hence on 5 September 2025 the Director General 
approved again the waiving of interest fees on the outstanding amounts.

(ii)	 Fees charged for annual compliance fees – Part 2 – Division 4 – 
Regulation 15: Interest

On 1 July 2023, the Department commenced charging Annual Compliance 
Fees (ACF) in accordance with Part 2 – Division 3 – Regulation 11 of the 
Regulations 2021. Part 2 – Division 4 – Regulation 15 provides for a fee to be 
charged for interest on outstanding amounts payable at the prescribed interest 
rate, being 3% higher than the cash rate target, as determined and published by the 
Reserve Bank of Australia, in effect on the 1st day the amount became outstanding. 

In accordance with the Regulations Part 2 – Division 4 – Regulation 13, the Chief 
Executive Officer (i.e., the Director General) may, on a case by case basis, refund, 
reduce or waive, in whole or in part, a fee paid or payable under this part if 
considered appropriate to do so.

On 27 August 2024, the Director General approved the waiving of interest fees on 
the outstanding amounts for 2023–24 as the Department did not have the resource 
capacity to determine the complex interest on the outstanding amounts payable for 
all invoices issued. Additionally, issuing an invoice to proponents charging interest 
after such a long delay could potentially put the Department's reputation at risk. 

For the financial year 2024–25 the Department was not yet able to reliably calculate 
for the complex interest rate hence on 5 September 2025 the Director General 
approved again the waiving of interest fees on the outstanding amounts.

9. Explanatory statements

This section explains variations in the financial performance of the 
Department.

  Notes

Explanatory statement for controlled operations 9.1

Explanatory statement for administered items 9.2

9.1 Explanatory statements for controlled operations

This explanatory section explains variations in the financial performance of the 
Department undertaking transactions under its own control, as represented by 
the primary financial statements.

All variances between annual estimates (original budget) and actual results 
for 2025, and between the actual results for 2025 and 2024 are shown below. 
Narratives are provided for key major variances which vary more than 10% 
from their comparative and that the variation is more than 1% of the following 
variance analyses for the:

1.	 Estimate and actual results for the current year: 

•	 Total Cost of Services of the estimate for the Statement of comprehensive 
income and Statement of cash flows (i.e. 1% of $287,373,000), and

•	 Total Assets of the estimate for the Statement of financial position (i.e. 1% 
of $701,401,000).

2.	 Actual results for the current year and the prior year actual: 

•	 Total Cost of Services for the previous year for the Statements of 
comprehensive income and Statement of cash flows (i.e. 1% of 
$240,581,000); and

•	 Total Assets for the previous year for the Statement of financial position 
(i.e. 1% of $784,152,000).
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9.1.1 Statement of comprehensive income variances

  Variance 
note

Estimate(1)  
2025

Actual  
2025

Actual  
2024

Variance between  
actual and estimate

Variance between actual 
results for 2025 and 2024

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Expenses       

Employee benefits expense a 143,659 152,733 131,145 9,074 21,588
Supplies and services  56,815 54,107 57,734 (2,708) (3,627)
Depreciation and amortisation expenses  15,038 13,159 11,019 (1,879) 2,140
Finance costs  246 249 170 3 79
Accommodation expenses  11,560 11,004 10,515 (556) 489
Grants and subsidies 1, b 51,304 30,074 22,451 (21,230) 7,623
Other expenses  6,251 6,026 7,407 (225) (1,381)
Net loss on disposal of non‑current assets  2,500 210 140 (2,290) 70

Total cost of services  287,373 267,562 240,581 (19,811) 26,981
 

Income       
User charges and fees  c 48,827 45,550 52,777 (3,277) (7,227)
Commonwealth grants  1,732 3,132 3,031 1,400 101
Waste levy  95,000 98,262 96,488 3,262 1,774
Other Income  13,310 14,100 15,501 790 (1,401)

Total income  158,869 161,044 167,797 2,175 (6,753)
Net cost of services  128,504 106,518 72,784 (21,986) 33,734

 
Income from State Government       

Service appropriation d 132,986 127,074 104,760 (5,912) 22,314
Income from other public sector entities 2 1,458 6,169 5,850 4,711 319
Resources received  3,276 1,871 2,644 (1,405) (773)
Royalties for Regions fund e 11,641 11,636 8,973 (5) 2,663

Total income from State Government  149,361 146,750 122,227 (2,611) 24,523
 

Surplus for the period  20,857 40,232 49,443 19,375 (9,211)
             

Other comprehensive income       
Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss       
Changes in asset revaluation surplus  - 45,913 39,145 45,913 6,768

Total other comprehensive income  - 45,913 39,145 45,913 6,768
      

Total comprehensive income for the period  20,857 86,145 88,588 65,288 (2,443)

(1) These are annual estimates published for the financial year ended 30 June 2025.
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Major estimate and actual (2025) variance narratives

1.	 Grants and subsidies were lower than the estimate by $21.2 million (41.4%) 
mainly due to grant deferrals relating to the Ban on E‑waste to Landfill, Clean 
WA Waste Paper and Cardboard Processing and delays in spending of the 
Establishing and Maintaining Vegetation Offsets Account, as well as the 
deferral of Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Account grants.

2.	 Income from other public sector entities were higher than the estimate 
by $4.7 million (323.1%) mainly due to higher than estimated Part IV 
Environmental Protection Act 1986 applications, compliance and assessment 
fees, higher than estimated Establishing and Maintaining Vegetation Offsets 
Account revenue and higher than estimated interest revenue from the Waste 
Avoidance and Resource Recovery Account.

Major actual (2025) and comparative (2024) variance narratives

a.	 Employee benefits expense increased by $21.6 million (16.5%) mainly due to 
increased resourcing for Assurance, Water Planning and Water Science, as 
well as the impact of the increased Public Sector Wages Policy.

b.	 Grants and subsidies increased by $7.6 million (34.0%) mainly due to higher 
expenditure for the National Partnership on Recycling Infrastructure and 
Clean WA Waste Paper and Cardboard Processing grant programs.

c.	 User charges and fees decreased by $7.2 million (13.7%) mainly due to a 
reduced volume of assessments for Environmental Protection Part IV Cost 
Recovery Account, and a reduced volume of Industry license fees.

d.	 Service appropriation increased by $22.3 million (21.3%) mainly to fund 
increased employee benefits expenses.

e.	 Royalties for regions fund income increased by $2.7 million (29.7%) mainly 
due to higher funding for the Healthy Estuaries WA program.

147 | Annual report 2024–25 | Department of Water and Environmental Regulation Home Overview Priorities Issues Performance Disclosures Other Appendices

https://www.wa.gov.au/government/publications/water-and-environmental-regulation-annual-report-2024-25
https://www.wa.gov.au/government/publications/water-and-environmental-regulation-annual-report-2024-25
https://www.wa.gov.au/government/publications/water-and-environmental-regulation-annual-report-2024-25
https://www.wa.gov.au/government/publications/water-and-environmental-regulation-annual-report-2024-25
https://www.wa.gov.au/government/publications/water-and-environmental-regulation-annual-report-2024-25
https://www.wa.gov.au/government/publications/water-and-environmental-regulation-annual-report-2024-25


9.1.2 Statement of financial position variances

Variance 
note

Estimate(1)  
2025

Actual  
2025

Actual  
2024

Variance between  
actual and estimate

Variance between actual 
results for 2025 and 2024

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Assets       

Current assets       

Cash and cash equivalents  4,154 34,897 23,487 30,743 11,410

Restricted cash and cash equivalents  61,747 98,470 96,184 36,723 2,286

Receivables  39,498 43,782 46,454 4,284 (2,672)

Amounts receivable for services  7,043 6,238 7,753 (805) (1,515)

Other assets  3,151 5,462 4,900 2,311 562

Total current assets  115,593 188,849 178,778 73,256 10,071
 

Non‑current assets       

Receivables  4,188 5,407 4,253 1,219 1,154

Amounts receivable for services  97,798 98,552 89,803 754 8,749

Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment 1, a 417,566 532,523 474,559 114,957 57,964

Right‑of‑use assets  3,590 3,630 2,995 40 635

Intangible assets 2, b 62,663 45,373 33,643 (17,290) 11,730

Other assets  3 44 121 41 (77)

Total non‑current assets  585,808 685,529 605,374 99,721 80,155
       

Total assets  701,401 874,378 784,152 172,977 90,226
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Variance 
note

Estimate(1)  
2025

Actual  
2025

Actual  
2024

Variance between  
actual and estimate

Variance between actual 
results for 2025 and 2024

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
 

Liabilities       

Current liabilities       

Payables  7,938 10,115 8,880 2,177 1,235

Lease liabilities  1,399 1,073 891 (326) 182

Contract liabilities  5,405 3,299 2,382 (2,106) 917

Employee related provisions  26,492 31,296 27,248 4,804 4,048

Other current liabilities  - 24 1 24 23

Total current liabilities  41,234 45,807 39,402 4,573 6,405

Non‑current liabilities       

Lease liabilities  6,120 2,710 2,194 (3,410) 516

Employee related provisions  6,207 7,882 7,295 1,675 587

Total non‑current liabilities  12,327 10,592 9,489 (1,735) 1,103
       

Total liabilities  53,561 56,399 48,891 2,838 7,508
      

Net assets  647,840 817,979 735,261 170,139 82,718

      

Equity      

Contributed equity  201,015 222,816 226,243 21,801 (3,427)

Reserves  98,207 182,988 137,075 84,781 45,913

Accumulated surplus  348,618 412,175 371,943 63,557 40,232

Total equity  647,840 817,979 735,261 170,139 82,718

(1) These are annual estimates published for the financial year ended 30 June 2025.

9.1.2 Statement of financial position variances (cont'd)
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Major estimate and actual (2025) variance narratives

1.	 Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment were higher than the 
estimate by $115.0 million (27.5%) mainly due to an increase in revaluation 
increments of land and measurement sites and additions to capital work in 
progress programs. 

2.	 Intangible assets were lower than the estimate by $17.3 million (27.6%) 
mainly due to lower than anticipated spend on analytical products and 
computer software.

Major actual (2025) and comparative (2024) variance narratives

a.	 Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment increased by $58.0 million 
(12.2%) mainly due to an increase in revaluation increments of land and 
measurement sites and additions to capital work in progress programs.

b.	 Intangible assets increased by $11.7 million (34.9%) mainly due to additions 
to computer software.
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9.1.3 Statement of cash flows variances

Variance 
note

Estimate(1)  
2025

Actual  
2025

Actual  
2024

Variance between  
actual and estimate

Variance between actual 
results for 2025 and 2024

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Cash flows from State Government       

Service appropriation a 117,948 112,087 89,806 (5,861) 22,281

Capital appropriations 1, b 43,081 22,377 11,048 (20,704) 11,329

Holding account drawdown  7,753 7,753 6,293 - 1,460

Distributions to owner 2, c (48,907) (25,804) (19,328) 23,103 (6,476)

Net proceeds on sale of land remitted to 
consolidated account  - - (229) - 229

Royalties for Regions fund d 13,837 11,636 8,973 (2,201) 2,663

Funds from other public sector entities 3 1,458 5,505 5,581 4,047 (76 )

Net cash provided by State Government  135,170 133,554 102,144 (1,616) 31,410
 

Cash flows from operating activities      
Payments      

Employee benefits e (143,653) (147,117) (128,968) (3,464) (18,149)

Supplies and services  (55,292) (54,370) (55,146) 922 776

Finance costs  (246) (251) (167) (5) (84)

Accommodation  (11,633) (10,939) (10,397) 694 (542)

Grants and subsidies 4, f (51,304) (28,880) (23,385) 22,424 (5,495)

GST payments on purchases 5 (5,710) (12,316) (10,315) (6,606) (2,001)

Other payments  (5,626) (4,811) (5,694) 815 883
      

Receipts      

User charges and fees g 48,827 44,763 50,049 (4,064) (5,286)

Commonwealth grants  1,732 3,131 3,031 1,399 100

Waste levy  95,000 102,013 94,359 7,013 7,654

GST receipts on sales  634 817 548 183 269

GST receipts from taxation authority 6 5,086 10,977 9,867 5,891 1,110

Other receipts h 13,310 14,683 9,910 1,373 4,773

Net cash used in operating activities  (108,875) (82,300) (66,308) 26,575 (15,992)
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Variance 
note

Estimate(1)  
2025

Actual  
2025

Actual  
2024

Variance between  
actual and estimate

Variance between actual 
results for 2025 and 2024

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Cash flows from investing activities      

Payments      

Purchase of non‑current assets i  (38,886) (35,113) (19,756) 3,773 (15,357)

Receipts      

Proceeds from sale of non‑current assets  - - 29 - (29)

Net cash used in investing activities  (38,886) (35,113) (19,727) 3,773 (15,386)
      

Cash flows from financing activities      

Payments      

Principal elements of lease payments  (933) (1,290) (1,382) (357) 92

Payments to accrued salaries account  - (1,155) (944) (1,155) (211)

Net cash used in financing activities  (933) (2,445) (2,326) (1,512) (119)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents  (13,524) 13,696 13,783 27,220 (87)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
period   83,613 119,671 109,196 36,058 10,475

Adjustment for the reclassification of accrued 
salaries account   - - (3,308) - 3,308

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 
period

 70,089 133,367 119,671 63,278 13,696

(1) These are annual estimates published for the financial year ended 30 June 2025.

9.1.3 Statement of cash flows variances (cont'd)

152 | Annual report 2024–25 | Department of Water and Environmental Regulation Home Overview Priorities Issues Performance Disclosures Other Appendices

https://www.wa.gov.au/government/publications/water-and-environmental-regulation-annual-report-2024-25
https://www.wa.gov.au/government/publications/water-and-environmental-regulation-annual-report-2024-25
https://www.wa.gov.au/government/publications/water-and-environmental-regulation-annual-report-2024-25
https://www.wa.gov.au/government/publications/water-and-environmental-regulation-annual-report-2024-25
https://www.wa.gov.au/government/publications/water-and-environmental-regulation-annual-report-2024-25
https://www.wa.gov.au/government/publications/water-and-environmental-regulation-annual-report-2024-25


Major estimate and actual (2025) variance narratives

1.	 Capital appropriations were lower than the estimate by $20.7 million 
(48.1%) mainly due to reflow of funding from 2024/25 to 2025/26 and/or 
2026/27 driven by deferral in Land purchases, RfR Rural Water Planning 
programs and expenditure on Environment Online. 

2.	 Distributions to owner were lower than the estimate by $23.1 million 
(47.2%) due to retention of adequate working cash available for committed 
programs of work in accordance with the Cash Management Policy.

3.	 Funds from other public sector entities were higher than the estimate 
by $4.0 million (277.7%) mainly due to higher than estimated Part IV 
Environmental Protection Act 1986 applications, compliance and 
assessment fees, higher than estimated Establishing and Maintaining 
Vegetation Offsets Account revenue and higher than estimated interest 
revenue from the Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Account.

4.	 Grants and subsidies were lower than the estimate by $22.4 million (43.7%) 
mainly due to grant deferrals relating to the Ban on E‑waste to Landfill, 
Clean WA Waste Paper and Cardboard Processing and delays in spending 
of the Establishing and Maintaining Vegetation Offsets Account, as well as 
the deferral of Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Account grants.

5.	 GST payments on purchases were higher than the estimate by $6.6 million 
(115.7%) mainly due to higher goods and services tax paid to suppliers for 
goods and services rendered and for grant payments. 	

6.	 GST receipts from taxation authority were higher than the estimate by 
$5.9 million (115.8%) mainly due to higher goods and services tax paid to 
suppliers for goods and services rendered. 

Major actual (2025) and comparative (2024) variance narratives

a.	 Service appropriation increased by $22.3 million (24.8%) mainly to fund 
increased employee benefits expenses.

b.	 Capital appropriations increased by $11.3 million (102.5%) mainly due to 
increased expenditure for Environment Online and the replacement of 
monitoring bores.

c.	 Distributions to owner increased by $6.5 million (33.5%) due to the 
retention of adequate working cash available for committed programs of 
work in accordance with the Cash Management Policy.

d.	 Royalties for Regions fund increased by $2.7 million (29.7%) mainly due to 
higher funding for the Healthy Estuaries WA program.

e.	 Employee benefits increased by $18.1 million (14.1%) mainly due to 
increased resourcing for Assurance, Water Planning and Water Science, as 
well as the impact of the increased Public Sector Wages Policy.

f.	 Grants and subsidies increased by $5.5 million (23.5%) mainly due to 
higher expenditure for the National Partnership on Recycling Infrastructure 
and Clean WA Waste Paper and Cardboard Processing grant programs.

g.	 User charges and fees decreased by $5.3 million (10.6%) mainly due to a 
reduced volume of assessments for Environmental Protection Part IV Cost 
Recovery Account, and a reduced volume of Industry licence fees.

h.	 Other receipts increased by $4.8 million (48.2%) mainly due to increased 
cash received relating to the Murujuga Rock Art Monitoring and the Port 
Hedland Ambient Air Quality Monitoring programs.

i.	 Purchase of non‑current assets increased by $15.4 million (77.7%) mainly 
due to increased expenditure for Environment Online and the replacement 
of monitoring bores.
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9.2 Explanatory statement for administered items

This explanatory section explains variations in the financial performance of the Department undertaking transactions that it does not control but has responsibility to the 
government for, as detailed in the administered schedules.

All variances between annual estimates and actual results for 2025, and between the actual results for 2025 and 2024 are shown below. Narratives are provided for key 
major variances which are more than 10% from their comparative and that variation is more than 1% of Total Administered Income for the following variance analyses 
for the: 
1.	 Estimate and actual results for the current year (i.e. $100,000).
2.	 Actual results for the current year and the prior year actual (i.e. $94,000).

    Estimate(1)  
2025

Actual  
2025

Actual  
2024

Variance between  
actual and estimate

Variance between actual 
results for 2025 and 2024

  Variance 
note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income from administered items       

Income       

For transfer:       

Regulatory fees and other charges(a) 1, a 100 68 94 (32) (26)

Total administered income  100 68 94 (32) (26)

 
Expenses       

Payments into the consolidated account(a) 2, b 100 68 94 (32) (26)

Total administered expenses  100 68 94 (32) (26)

(1) These are annual estimates published for the financial year ended 30 June 2025.
(a)	 Payments into the consolidated account included water fines collected on behalf of the Water Corporation, and environmental infringement regulatory fees and 

fines collected on behalf of State Government.

Variance narratives

Major actual (2025) and actual (2024) variance narratives

a.	 Regulatory fees and other charges decreased by $0.026 million (27.7%) 
mainly due to a decrease in court‑imposed penalties being received during 
the financial year under review.

b.	 The variance is explained in the above‑mentioned note a.

Major estimate and actual (2025) variance narratives

1.	 Regulatory fees and other charges decreased by $0.032 million (32.0%) 
mainly due to lower than estimated in court‑imposed penalties being 
received during the financial year under review.

2.	 The variance is explained in the above‑mentioned note 1. 
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Certification of  
key performance indicators 

I hereby certify that the key performance indicators are 
based on proper records, are relevant and appropriate 
for assisting users to assess the Department of Water 
and Environmental Regulation’s performance and fairly 
represent the performance of the Department of Water 
and Environmental Regulation for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2025.

	
 
 

Alistair Jones 
Director General 

3 October 2025
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Government goal – Investing in WA’s Future: Tackling climate action and supporting the arts, culture and sporting sectors to promote vibrant communities. 	

Agency outcome Key effectiveness indicators Page Agency services Key efficiency indicators Page

Western Australia’s growth and 
development is supported by 
the sustainable management of 
water resources for the long‑term 
benefit of the state

Proportion of stakeholders who perceive the 
Department to be effectively managing the 
state’s water as a resource for sustainable, 
productive use

158
1.	 Water information and 

advice

Proportion of statutory referrals from 
decision‑making authorities where advice is 
provided within target timeframes

165

Average cost per referral assessment 165

Average cost per water measurement site 
managed 166

2. 	Water planning, 
allocation, and 
optimisation

Average cost per plan, report, or guidance 
document to support water planning, 
allocation, and optimisation

167

Proportion of priority growth areas that have a 
water supply planning strategy 159

Average cost per hour of scientific support for 
water planning, allocation, and optimisation 168

3.	 Water regulation, 
licensing, and 
industry governance

Average cost of assessing a water licence 
application by risk assessment category 169

Average time taken (days) to assess a licence 
application by risk assessment category 170

Average cost of compliance monitoring and 
enforcement action 171

Emissions, discharges and 
clearing of native vegetation are 
effectively regulated to avoid 
unacceptable risks to public 
health and the environment

Percentage of regulatory compliance activities 
completed as planned 159

4.	 Environmental 
regulation

Average cost per works approval and licence 
application 172

Percentage of potential environmental risks 
identified during compliance monitoring 
program that are rectified within two months

160 Average cost per native vegetation clearing 
permit application 172

Development and implementation 
of strategic policy and legislation 
that promotes sustainable 
environmental outcomes

Percentage of advice and recommendations 
that met Ministerial approval, without the need 
for significant modification

160 5.	 Environmental and 
water policy

Average cost per hour of policy advice and 
recommendations 173

Outcome‑based management framework
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Agency outcome Key effectiveness indicators Page Agency services Key efficiency indicators Page

Waste avoided and the recovery 
of materials from landfill 
maximised

Percentage of municipal solid waste reported 
as diverted from landfill through recycling 
compared to waste strategy target in the Perth 
metropolitan region

161

6.	 Waste strategies Cost of landfill levy compliance as a 
percentage of landfill levy income collected 174

Percentage of commercial and industrial waste 
reported as diverted from landfill through 
recycling compared to the state‑wide waste 
strategy target

161

Percentage of construction and demolition 
waste reported as diverted from landfill 
through recycling compared to the state‑wide 
waste strategy target

162

Quality advice to the 
Environmental Protection 
Authority (EPA) and Minister for 
the Environment on significant 
proposals and environmental 
issues

The EPA’s satisfaction with the Department’s 
environmental impact assessment (EIA) 
service, during the year, in line with best 
practice principles of EIA

162
7.	 Environmental 

impact assessment 
services to the EPA

Cost per standardised unit of assessment 
output 175

Percentage of project‑specific conditions 
which did not require significant change 
following the appeal process

163

8.	 Environmental 
management 
services to the EPA

Cost per standardised unit of environmental 
management services output 176Percentage of assessments that met agreed 

timelines 163

The EPA’s satisfaction with the Department’s 
provision of environmental management 
services during the year

164

Compliance with Ministerial 
Statement implementation 
conditions are monitored 
effectively

The number of Ministerial Statements audited 
compared to targets 164

9.	 Compliance 
monitoring services 
to the Minister for 
the Environment

Average cost per environmental audit 
completed 177

Following the machinery of government changes, the Department of Water, the Department of Environment Regulation, and the Office of the Environmental Protection 
Authority were amalgamated and formed the Department of Water and Environmental Regulation (the Department) on 1 July 2017. This is the eighth reporting period for 
the Department post amalgamation. 

Results with significant variances of 10% or more compared with the Target and prior year results are explained. 
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The stakeholder research program began in 2014 under the former 
Department of Water and has evolved to include customers and the broader 
community. This KPI has been tracked consistently since then, providing a 
long‑term view of stakeholder sentiment.

The management of the state’s water resources to enable growth and 
development is a core objective for the Department, and this occurs within the 
context of ensuring the sustainability of the resources and their dependent 
environments. 

The Department has many stakeholders with competing interests, including 
those from industry, investment, community, and environmental sectors.

Variance analysis

The 2024–25 result of 38% marks a decline from previous years, reflecting a 
period of significant reform and transition within the Department. Legislative 
and policy changes—such as the Environmental Protection Act Amendment 
Bill 2024, approvals reform, the cessation of water resources legislative 
reform, and the removal of state emissions‑reduction requirements likely 
influenced stakeholder sentiment. The 2025–26 KPI target of 65% reflects the 
Department’s ongoing commitment and focus on measurable progress.

Key effectiveness indicators

Proportion of stakeholders who perceive the Department to 
be effectively managing the state’s water as a resource for 
sustainable, productive use(a)

(a) The 2024–25 survey results have 
a confidence interval of +/‑4.28% 
at 95% confidence level, based on 
a final sample of 457 stakeholders 
from a total valid sample of 3,591. 
Other survey statistics include:

•	 population size: 3,591 
stakeholders 

•	 population character: 
stakeholder contacts provided 
by the Department

•	 survey fieldwork : 13 September 18 November 2024

•	 total number of respondents: 457

•	 response rate: 13% 

•	 average survey length : 12.88 minutes

•	 how sample was selected: Online‑only survey distributed via DWER’s 
email address, with no telephone follow‑ups, weighted to the stakeholder 
database’s profile to ensure representativeness across stakeholder types, 
consistent with previous years.

The indicator is based on feedback received from the stakeholders through 
the survey. It is calculated as the percentage of stakeholders with water‑related 
dealings who rated DWER as “very effective” or “quite effective” in managing 
the state’s water as a resource for sustainable productive use. Other response 
options included “neither”, “quite ineffective”, “very ineffective”, or “don’t know.”
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‘Priority growth areas’ refers to a 
list of significant projects and water 
resources areas. For each priority 
growth area, the Department, or key 
stakeholders in collaboration with 
the Department, develops a water 
supply plan or strategy to identify 
current and future water resource 
and supply options to meet demand 
for industry and population growth 
over the long term. This supports the 
timely development of resource and 
supply options to meet demand in 
areas of state priority.

Projects included in the priority growth areas have strategic significance for 
the state; and include areas identified through the Water Supply‑Demand 
Model as having a gap between future water demand and water availability.

The indicator is calculated as a percentage of the priority growth areas with 
a water supply planning strategy (or advisory report for key stakeholders) out 
of the total priority growth areas that the Department is currently working on. 
Following the completion of the planned program of projects in 2020–21, the 
indicator was re‑set to zero in 2021–22 with a 100% completion target set for 
2023–24 based on delivery of seven water supply planning projects, over three 
years ending 2023–24.

Variance analysis

The 2024–25 Budget Target of 33% represents the first year of a three‑year 
planning cycle of new priority areas, representing completion of three priority 
growth areas out of the nine priority growth areas planned over 2024–25 to 
2026–27.

The 2024–25 budget target of 33% was not achieved due to reprioritisation 
of water supply planning resources to address urgent water supply issues for 
Pilbara towns and industry.

Compliance activities are an integral 
part of the Department’s regulatory 
work and include promotion, 
monitoring, and enforcement. 
Information gathered and assessed 
through compliance activities is 
also used to inform and revise both 
regulation and policy frameworks as 
well as to inform legislative reform 
programs.

The Department is a risk‑based 
regulator that focuses its resources to 
address the areas of greatest risks to public health, the environment and water 
resources and is responsive to emerging risks and issues.

The prescribed premises compliance monitoring program is focused on the 
assessment of emissions and discharges from premises to ensure they are 
managed appropriately by the current instrument and relevant legislation. The 
program identifies premises and targets activities based on a risk assessment 
informed by environmental and operational risk including type of activity, 
compliance history and intelligence gathered, including from complaints and 
incidents. 

The waste sector compliance monitoring program assesses compliance at 
landfills and associated industries with the requirements of the landfill levy.

Proportion of priority growth areas that have a water supply 
planning strategy 

Percentage of regulatory compliance activities completed as 
planned 

(%)
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Non‑compliances identified 
through inspections undertaken 
as part of the prescribed premises 
compliance monitoring program 
and the waste sector compliance 
monitoring program are recorded 
and the length of time taken for 
these non‑compliances to be 
rectified is tracked.

Non‑compliances vary in nature, 
they may be administrative, 
technical, or operational. 
Administrative and technical 
non‑compliances generally pose a low risk to public health, the environment 
or water resources, whereas operational non‑compliances and emissions may 
pose a higher risk.

Variance analysis

During 2024–25, a total of 294 non‑compliances were identified to 
30‑June‑2025 from inspections under the waste sector and the prescribed 
premises compliance monitoring programs, including seven non‑compliances 
carried over from 2023–24 to allow for calculation against the two‑month 
timeframe. 

The target of 40% of non‑compliances being closed within two calendar 
months was not achieved, with only 16% of non‑compliances being 
closed within the specified timeframe. The resolution of the identified 
non‑compliances is often protracted depending upon the complexity of the 
non‑compliance identified and can take extended periods to resolve.

This indicator seeks to ensure 
that the advice provided by the 
Department is consistent with 
the State Government’s policy 
direction by measuring how 
well it meets the Minister for the 
Environment’s expectations.

Percentage of potential environmental risks identified during 
compliance monitoring program that are rectified within 
two months

Percentage of advice and recommendations that met 
Ministerial approval, without the need for significant 
modification 
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(a) The Treasurer has approved 
an exemption from reporting this 
indicator for 2024–25, 2025–26 and 
2026–27. Refer further details below.

The indicator relates to the State 
Government’s waste management 
target of recovering 75% of 
commercial and industrial (C&I) 
waste by 2025, as described in the 
waste strategy. 

Due to the significant time required 
to gather the relevant information, 
2022–23 data, as reported in Waste and recycling in Western Australia 
2022–23, was used to calculate this indicator for 2023–24. From 2021, the data 
is derived from annual returns submitted under regulation 18C of the Waste 
Avoidance and Resource Recovery Regulations 2008 and composition data 
submitted with waste levy returns. Data was sourced from voluntary surveys 
prior to 2019–20.

Explanation for exemption for reporting against this KPI for 2024–25, 
2025–26 and 2026–27

The Department determined during the 2024–25 year that a revision of 
the current Key Performance Indicators is required. The Department will 
commence a comprehensive review of its Output Based Measurement 
framework during the 2025–26 year to align the KPIs with the Department’s 
current organisational structure, three Ministerial portfolios and strategic 
direction. This indicator was specifically identified as requiring modification 
and the Treasurer has given a direction not to report this KPI for the 2024–25, 
2025–26 and 2026–27 financial years under section 61(1)(b) of the Financial 
Management Act 2006.

(a) The Treasurer has approved 
an exemption from reporting this 
indicator for 2024–25, 2025–26 and 
2026–27.

Refer further details below.

The indicator relates to the State 
Government’s waste management 
target of recovering 67% of 
municipal solid waste (MSW) by 
2025, as described in the waste 
strategy. 

Due to the significant time required to gather the relevant information, 2022–23 
data, as reported in Waste and recycling in Western Australia 2022–23, was 
used to calculate this indicator for 2023–24. From 2021, the data is derived 
from annual returns submitted under regulation 18C of the Waste Avoidance 
and Resource Recovery Regulations 2008 and composition data submitted 
with waste levy returns. Data was sourced from voluntary surveys prior to 
2019–20.

Explanation for exemption for reporting against this KPI for 2024–25, 
2025–26 and 2026–27

The Department determined during the 2024–25 year that a revision of 
the current Key Performance Indicators is required. The Department will 
commence a comprehensive review of its Output Based Measurement 
framework during the 2025–26 year to align the KPIs with the Department’s 
current organisational structure, three Ministerial portfolios and strategic 
direction. This indicator was specifically identified as requiring modification 
and the Treasurer has given a direction not to report this KPI for the 2024–25, 
2025–26 and 2026–27 financial years under section 61(1)(b) of the Financial 
Management Act 2006. 

Percentage of municipal solid waste reported as diverted from 
landfill through recycling compared to waste strategy target in 
the Perth metropolitan region
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The indicator is determined 
through surveys of the EPA’s 
members (service recipients) who 
rate the quality of each service 
against best practice principles 
(currently, the International 
Association for Impact 
Assessment’s Principles of EIA 
Best Practice).

The Department strives to ensure 
that all advice provided to the EPA 
is as practical, efficient, rigorous, 
participative and fit‑for‑purpose as 
possible. In line with this goal, this year the EPA considered the EIA services 
provided by the Department were of a very high standard.

(a) The Treasurer has approved 
an exemption from reporting this 
indicator for 2024–25, 2025–26 and 
2026–27. Refer further details below.

The indicator relates to the State 
Government’s waste management 
target of recovering 77% of 
construction and demolition (C&D) 
waste by 2025, as described in the 
waste strategy. 

Due to the significant time required 
to gather the relevant information, 
2022–23 data, as reported in Waste and recycling in Western Australia 
2022–23, was used to calculate this indicator for 2023–24. From 2021, the data 
is derived from annual returns submitted under regulation 18C of the Waste 
Avoidance and Resource Recovery Regulations 2008 and composition data 
submitted with waste levy returns. Data was sourced from voluntary surveys 
prior to 2019–20.

Explanation for exemption for reporting against this KPI for 2024–25, 
2025–26 and 2026–27

The Department determined during the 2024–25 year that a revision of 
the current Key Performance Indicators is required. The Department will 
commence a comprehensive review of its Output Based Measurement 
framework during the 2025–26 year to align the KPIs with the Department’s 
current organisational structure, three Ministerial portfolios and strategic 
direction. This indicator was specifically identified as requiring modification 
and the Treasurer has given a direction not to report this KPI for the 2024–25, 
2025–26 and 2026–27 financial years under section 61(1)(b) of the Financial 
Management Act 2006. 

Percentage of construction and demolition waste reported 
as diverted from landfill through recycling compared to the 
state‑wide waste strategy target

The EPA’s satisfaction with the Department’s environmental 
impact assessment (EIA) service, during the year, in line with 
best practice principles of EIA
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The indicator assists stakeholders in 
ascertaining the quality of conditions 
recommended by the Department’s 
EIA services. The Department 
provides periodic reports to the 
EPA outlining the results of the 
appeals process and drawing 
attention to significant changes to 
the recommended conditions. This 
provides an important part of the 
State Government’s expectation of a 
‘continuous improvement loop’ in the 
appeals process.

A significant change can be deemed as a substantial change to the form 
of a condition, the deletion or addition of a new condition, or a substantial 
change to the outcome or objective specified in a condition. A substantial 
change to the specified requirements of an environmental management plan 
or environmental monitoring plan and a change to a prescribed action are 
determined on a case‑by‑case basis.

Variance analysis

The 2024–25 Budget Target of 90% was not achieved. The changes were 
due to three planning scheme amendments where the recommended 
environmental conditions were revised to ensure they could be implemented 
through the planning framework, noting that some time has passed since the 
last planning scheme amendment was assessed in 2011. The lessons from 
this are being applied in future assessments. In addition, one proposal with 
a high number of appeals resulted in significant changes to almost half of its 
conditions.

Percentage of project‑specific conditions which did not 
require significant change following the appeal process

Percentage of assessments that met agreed timelines
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(a) The Treasurer has approved 
an exemption from reporting this 
indicator for 2024–25, 2025–26 
and 2026–27. Refer further details 
below.

This indicator measures the 
Department’s effectiveness in 
completing the assessment and 
providing the assessment report to 
the Minister in a timely manner. The 
timeline for an assessment may 
vary according to the complexity of 
the project and is usually agreed 
with the proponent soon after the level of assessment is determined. The 
assessment timeline is stated in the EPA’s Report. The timeline refers to the 
time between the receipt of the final information (that has been endorsed 
by the EPA) for the assessment and providing the assessment report to the 
Minister (12 weeks).

Explanation for exemption for reporting against this KPI for 2024–25, 
2025–26 and 2026–27

The Department determined during the 2024–25 year that a revision of 
the current Key Performance Indicators is required. The Department will 
commence a comprehensive review of its Output Based Measurement 
framework during the 2025–26 year to align the KPIs with the Department’s 
current organisational structure, three Ministerial portfolios and strategic 
direction. This indicator was specifically identified as requiring modification 
and the Treasurer has given a direction not to report this KPI for the 2024–25, 
2025–26 and 2026–27 financial years under section 61(1)(b) of the Financial 
Management Act 2006.
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The level of quality is determined 
by the EPA with reference to the 
desirable underlying qualities of 
good environmental management 
(EM) advice. The EPA rates the 
quality of advice on strategic 
advice, statutory policies or 
guidelines provided by the 
Department.

Each of the EPA members who 
participate in a decision rates the 
product on a scale of one to five 
(poor to excellent) and the scores 
of each member are averaged, combined, and proportionally adjusted to a 
percentage. The final indicator is the average rating awarded to all environment 
management services endorsed by the EPA during the period.

Variance analysis

The Department strives to ensure that all environmental management (EM) 
services provided to the EPA have a clear purpose, are rigorous, readable, 
applicable, and consistent, and informed by stakeholder input as possible. In 
line with this goal, this year the EPA considered the EM services provided by 
the Department were of a very high standard, which resulted in the KPI Target 
being exceeded.

Compliance monitoring is 
managed through a structured 
annual compliance management 
program. The annual program sets 
out the number of audits to be 
undertaken and using a risk‑based 
approach, identifies the Ministerial 
Statements to be audited.

The Minister imposes conditions 
on proposals to ensure that they 
are managed in an environmentally 
acceptable manner. 

Variance analysis

Significant improvement in audit delivery was realised in 2024–25 compared 
to 2023–24 however the variance from 2024–25 Target is due to staff being 
focused on resolving several high risk and on‑going compliance matters and 
due to on‑boarding and audit training for new staff.

The EPA’s satisfaction with the Department’s provision of 
environmental management services during the year

The number of Ministerial Statements audited compared to 
targets
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The Department enables investment decisions of regional and state 
significance through the provision of data and information on the quantity, 
quality, location of, and demand for, water across the state. The information 
also underpins policy advice for consideration by State Government and 
supports other government agencies and stakeholders in their planning for 
future economic growth, and urban and rural development.

	⊲ Proportion of statutory referrals from decision‑making authorities 
where advice is provided within target timeframes

Technically proficient, reliable, and timely advice on the state’s water resources 
enables effective decision‑making 
by decision‑making authorities 
(DMAs) that directly supports 
growth, development, and 
investment for the long‑term benefit 
of the state. DMAs include the:

•	 Environmental Protection 
Authority

•	 Other State Government 
agencies

•	 Local government authorities

This includes advice about water 
availability; the avoidance, management, and mitigation of impacts on water 
resources; and the protection of public drinking water sources.

This indicator represents a measure of the Department’s timeliness with 
respect to the provision of advice on various statutory referrals from DMAs. It 
demonstrates the efficiency with which the Department is meeting statutory 
timeframes in providing water information and advice.

Key efficiency indicators

Service 1: Water information and advice

A statutory referral is a formal request for water advice from a DMA that has 
a statutory timeframe associated with the provision of that water advice. This 
indicator is calculated as a percentage of the total number of statutory referrals 
from DMAs to the Department for advice that met the 35‑business‑day 
timeframe within the period.

	⊲ Average cost per referral assessment

Actual 
2020–21 

$

Actual 
2021–22 

$

Actual 
2022–23 

$

Actual 
2023–24 

$

Target 
2024–25 

$

Actual 
2024–25 

$

3,517 3,716 4,332 4,259 6,641 5,182

This measure provides information on the amount of operational expenditure 
being used for referrals that enable decisions on proposals that support the 
state’s growth and development. 

The indicator is relevant to the service because it is a directly attributable 
operational cost incurred in service delivery to meet the desired outcome. 

An assessment is generated from both a formal request for water advice from 
a DMA or proponent such as under the Better Urban Water Management 
Framework. The indicator is calculated using the total cost of the water 
information and advice service divided by the total number of assessments 
conducted within the period.

Variance analysis

The lower actual average cost per referral assessment in 2024–25 compared 
to the 2024–25 Target is mainly due to lower resource cost allocations 
resulting from revised cost allocations to more accurately reflect the incidence 
of costs supporting this service. The increase in actual average cost per 
referral assessment from 2023–24 to 2024–25 is mainly due to higher resource 
cost allocations.
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	⊲ Average cost per water measurement site managed 

Actual 
2020–21 

$

Actual 
2021–22 

$

Actual 
2022–23 

$

Actual 
2023–24 

$

Target 
2024–25 

$

Actual 
2024–25 

$

8,232 6,764 7,414 8,285 7,419 8,107

Access to reliable and current information about water resources – quantity 
and quality – is a core input to decision‑making by State Government and 
water‑dependent businesses that enables growth and development of the 
state.

Stakeholders access water information and data to support investment and 
business decisions. It also supports accurate water resource management 
decisions and advice. To service this need, the Department measures or holds 
water data for more than 116,000 groundwater and surface water field sites, 
verifies, and stores the data and makes it available as water information.

Regular or periodic field measurements are essential to maintain up‑to‑date 
data, and verification, storage and accessibility are essential to make data 
available as reliable information. 

This indicator is calculated by dividing the annual cost of water measurement 
and water information functions by the number of active operational sites.
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Service 2: Water planning, allocation, and optimisation

The Department undertakes and facilitates water planning, allocation, and 
optimisation to ensure the sustainable management of water resources for 
the long-term benefit of the state, which relies on good science. This includes 
planning and allocating water for sustainable productive use, protecting public 
drinking water sources, and ensuring the sustainability of water resources and 
their dependent ecosystems.

	⊲ Average cost per plan, report, or guidance document to support 
water planning, allocation, and optimisation

Actual 
2020–21 

$

Actual 
2021–22 

$

Actual 
2022–23 

$

Actual 
2023–24 

$

Target 
2024–25 

$

Actual 
2024–25 

$

233,709 268,753 243,074 194,137 321,012 259,057

Water resources need to be sustainably managed to achieve sufficient 
water quantity and quality for current and future needs. Increasingly precise, 
systematic, and transparent management is produced in science‑based water 
allocation and optimisation plans, reports, and guidance documents. They 
guide and define management decisions to meet demand and avoid, mitigate, 
or minimise unsustainable impacts on resources. With this in place sufficient 
good‑quality surface and groundwater will remain an ongoing part of future 
water supply for economic and population growth and the liveability of towns 
and cities.

Average cost is calculated by dividing the cost of the services by the total 
number of the following types of documents or advice produced:

1. Plans
•	 Water allocation plan
•	 Drinking water source protection plan
•	 Statement of response to public submissions

2. Plans for public comment
•	 Water allocation plan for public comment
•	 Water source protection plan for public comment

3. Technical reports 
•	 Drinking water source protection area assessments
•	 Environmental water requirements report, or provisions report
•	 Allocation limits methods report 

4. Guidance documents
•	 Water quality protection notes and information sheets
•	 Local water licensing strategy (e.g. Indigenous Land Use Agreement, 

allocation statement)

5. Status reports including:
•	 Annual or tri‑annual compliance Jandakot, and Gnangara compliance 

reports
•	 Water allocation plan evaluations
•	 Drinking water source protection reviews
•	 State‑wide planning reports (e.g., water resources inventory)
•	 Pre‑planning or implementation phase status reports (e.g., discussion 

paper, review of allocation limits or components)
•	 Communication products (or sets of communication products) (e.g., 

water availability outlooks, website text, fact sheets).

Variance analysis

The decrease in the average cost from the 2024–25 Target to 2024–25 Actual 
is mainly due to lower cost allocations as well as a small decrease in the total 
number of documents to support water planning, allocation, and optimisation. 

The increase in the average cost from the 2023–24 Actual to 2024–25 Actual is 
mainly due to higher cost allocations with a small decrease in the total number 
of documents to support water planning, allocation, and optimisation.
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	⊲ Average cost per hour of scientific support for water planning, 
allocation, and optimisation

Actual 
2020–21 

$

Actual 
2021–22 

$

Actual 
2022–23 

$

Actual 
2023–24 

$

Target 
2024–25 

$

Actual 
2024–25 

$

172 185 197 199 214 218

The sustainable management of water resources for the long‑term benefit of 
the state relies on quality and contemporary water science. The indicator will 
enable judgement about the efficient application of the Department’s science 
capacity.

This indicator shows the average cost of providing scientific support for the 
achievement of water planning, allocation, and optimisation outcomes.

This indicator is calculated by dividing annual cost of full‑time equivalent 
(FTE) and operational expenses by total hours worked by employees directly 
supporting scientific outcomes for this service.
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The indicator shows the average cost to assess a licence or permit application 
by risk category grouping. The indicator includes applications for permits to 
interfere with bed and banks, licences to construct a well, licences to access 
water, and renewal of and amendments to existing licences to access water, 
trades, transfers, and agreements.

The indicator is calculated by dividing the departmental cost of providing the 
water licensing service per application risk category, by the total number of 
licence and permit applications assessed within each risk category, within the 
period.

Variance analysis

The decrease in the average cost of assessing a water licence application 
across all water licence application risk categories from the 2024–25 Target 
to the 2024–25 Actual is mainly due to movement in volumes of water licence 
application assessed by risk categories more than offset by higher cost 
allocations allocated to this service.

Service 3: Water regulation and industry governance

Responsible, proportional regulation ensures investment, growth and 
development is underpinned by sustainable management of the state’s 
water resources for the long term benefit of the state. This service includes 
the administration of water regulation including licensing and compliance 
functions. It also includes the management of the legislation governing the 
operations of water service providers.

	⊲ Average cost of assessing a water licence application by risk 
assessment category:

Risk 
Assessment 

Category

Actual 
2020–21 

$

Actual 
2021–22 

$

Actual 
2022–23 

$

Actual 
2023–24 

$

Target 
2024–25 

$

Actual 
2024–25 

$

Low risk 3,412 3,348 4,018 4,182 4,742 4,243

Medium risk 4,549 4,464 5,357 5,577 6,323 5,657

High risk 5,686 5,580 6,697 6,971 7,904 7,071

Responsible, proportional regulation gives confidence that Western Australia’s 
water resources are being sustainably managed for the long‑term benefit of 
the state. 

Water licensing is the main tool for sharing and allocating the state’s water 
resources. A licence to take water authorises a licensee to take a specified 
volume of water from a particular water resource and is the principal tool 
for ensuring sustainable productive use of water in Western Australia. 
Other licences and permits administered by the Department authorise the 
construction and alteration of water access infrastructure, such as wells 
and dams, as well as activities that interfere with the beds and banks of 
watercourses.

This indicator enables judgement about the costs of the Department’s water 
licence application assessments, within a risk‑based assessment framework.
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	⊲ Average time taken (days) to assess a licence application by risk 
assessment category:

Risk 
Assessment 

Category

Actual 
2020‑21 
(Days)

Actual 
2021‑22 
(Days)

Actual 
2022‑23 
(Days)

Actual 
2023‑24 
(Days)

Target 
2024‑25 
(Days)

Actual 
2024‑25 
(Days)

Low risk 30 35 43 58 65 59

Medium risk 39 52 57 84 75 63

High risk 47 65 85 92 95 76

Water licences are one of the fundamental assets that support investment 
decisions in water‑dependent industries. Investment decisions by licensees, 
existing and prospective, are also time‑bound and require that applications for 
access to water are dealt with by the Department in a timely manner.

The Department ensures that the level of assessment effort applied to a 
water licence application is proportionate to the risk posed should a licence 
be granted, for example higher‑risk licence applications are generally more 
complex and require more time to assess. 

Risk categories for water licence or permit applications guide the level of 
assessment that is carried out by the Department based on the risk should a 
licence or permit be granted. Risk categories are defined as low, medium, or 
high. Primary factors considered when assigning an assessment risk category 
are the volume of water being requested, how much water is available in the 
resource where the water is being requested, and potential impact of the 
proposed water use on other water users and/or the environment, including 
cumulative impacts.

This indicator enables judgement about the Department’s efficiency in 
decision‑making for water licence and permit applications within this 
risk‑based assessment framework.

The indicator shows the average time taken to assess a water licence or permit 
application by risk category. The indicator includes applications for permits 
to interfere with bed and banks, licences to construct a well, licences to take 
water, and renewal of and amendments to existing licences to take water, 
trades, transfers, and agreements.

The indicator is calculated by dividing the total time taken to assess all water 
licence and permit applications within each risk category, by the total number 
of licence and permit applications assessed within each risk category, within 
the period. 

The measurement of assessment timeframes includes ‘stop the clock.’ When a 
water licence application assessment process is outside of the Department’s 
control, the time taken during this assessment process is not included when 
calculating application assessment times. The assessment clock is ‘stopped’ in 
these instances.

Variance analysis

The average time taken to process a water licence application has been 
significantly reduced in 2024–25 over the 2024–25 Targets across all water 
licence application risk categories, driven by the successful implementation of 
the water licensing backlog action plan. 

Importantly, it should be noted that the average processing duration for 
low‑risk applications, which represented more than 45% of the total water 
licence applications processed in 2024–25, is 6 days (or 9%) less than the 
target of 65 days. Similarly, average processing duration for medium and 
high‑risk applications is 12 days (or 16%) and 19 days (or 25%) less than the 
respective targets of 75 days and 95 days.

The changes in average time taken to process a licence application by risk 
assessment category from the 2023–24 Actual to the 2024–25 Actual is due 
to a focused effort towards reducing water licensing assessment backlog. 
Significantly, 2024–25 Actual for medium and high‑risk applications are 21 days 
(or 25%) and 16 days (or 17%) less than 2023–24 Actual for medium and 
high‑risk applications. 
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	⊲ Average cost of compliance monitoring and enforcement action

Actual 
2020–21  

$

Actual 
2021‑22  

$

Actual 
2022‑23  

$

Actual 
2023‑24  

$

Target 
2024‑25  

$

Actual 
2024‑25  

$

118 130 206 344 487 475

The Department relies on water usage information for accurate water resource 
management advice and decisions. The Department’s compliance monitoring 
of licensed use provides accurate information on actual licensed water use 
to ensure the sustainable management of water resources for the long‑term 
benefit of the state.

The Department undertakes compliance monitoring and, where appropriate, 
enforcement action when licensed water use is found to be not in accordance 
with terms, restrictions, and conditions. Compliance monitoring within 
a risk‑based framework ensures the Department fulfils its legislative 
requirements, while ensuring efficient and sustainable productive water use. 

Investment decisions by licensees, existing and prospective, are time‑bound 
and require that applications for access to water are dealt with by the 
Department in a timely manner. Water licences are one of the fundamental 
assets that support investment decisions. 

This indicator is calculated using the departmental cost of compliance and 
enforcement activities divided by the number of compliance and enforcement 
actions undertaken by the Department during the year.

The enforcement actions include the following activities undertaken by the 
Department when licenced water use is found to be inconsistent with the 
licence terms, restrictions, and conditions:

•	 educational letters
•	 licence amendments
•	 warnings, infringements, or direction notices
•	 prosecutions

Variance analysis

The increase in the average cost of compliance monitoring and enforcement 
action from the 2023–24 Actual to 2024–25 Actual is mainly due to higher 
resource cost allocations as well as a reduction in the number of compliance 
monitoring and enforcement actions associated with water metering 
regulations implementation stabilised, and an associated reduction in metering 
related monitoring events and incidents of non‑compliance. 
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Service 4: Environmental regulation

These measures of efficiency were established to reflect the costs per 
regulatory action for an instrument for the Department’s industry regulation 
and native vegetation regulation functions. These are considered relevant 
efficiency indicators as they:

•	 capture the primary regulatory functions of the Department

•	 measure the amount of resources required to assess and determine an 
industry regulation instrument and native vegetation instrument

•	 are of interest to parties paying regulatory fees 

•	 are relevant to the review and determination of the Department’s 
regulatory fees and charges.

The indicators are considered relevant to the service as they can track the 
efficiency of the assessment of regulatory instruments over time and provide 
a simple metric for users of the Department’s budget statements and annual 
report.

For works approvals and licences, the indicator is calculated by dividing 
the total group costs deemed relevant to the agency activity of carrying out 
and administering the function of works approvals and licences – being 
applications assessment and decision‑making on works approval and licence 
applications under Part V Division 3 of the Environmental Protection Act 1986 – 
by the number of work approvals, licences, licence renewals and amendments 
assessed to provide the average cost.

For clearing permit applications, the indicator is calculated using the same 
method, by dividing the total group costs deemed relevant to the agency 
activity of carrying out and administering the function of clearing permit 
applications – being assessment and decision making on clearing permit 
applications and amendments to clearing permit applications under Part V 
Division 2 of the Environmental Protection Act 1986 – by the number of 
clearing permit applications and amendment applications assessed, to provide 
the average cost.

The Department seeks to prevent, control, and abate activities with the 
potential to cause pollution or environmental harm. It has adopted a risk‑based 
approach to delivering its regulatory role, which broadly fits into three main 
functions:

1.	 approvals and licensing

2.	 monitoring, audit, and compliance inspections

3.	 enforcement, including complaint and incident investigation.

	⊲ Average cost per works approval and licence application 
	⊲ Average cost per native vegetation clearing permit application

Efficiency 
indicator

Actual 
2020‑21  

$

Actual 
2021‑22  

$

Actual 
2022‑23  

$

Actual 
2023‑24  

$

Target 
2024‑25  

$

Actual 
2024‑25  

$

Average cost 
per works 
approval 
and licence 
application

51,891 55,425 57,660(a) 62,784(a) 76,556 69,499

Average cost 
per native 
vegetation 
clearing 
permit 
application

33,217 30,353 33,764 38,428 49,695 38,442

(a) The 2022–23 to 2023–24 audited figures were previously reported as 
$73,244 and $77,628. These have been restated to align with the total 
decisions made to inform the average cost per works approval and licence 
application. The average cost per works approval and licence application 
previously only included grants and refusal decisions. The average cost per 
works approval and licence application now reflects all decisions made.
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Service 5: Environmental and water policy

Develop and implement policies and strategies that promote environmental 
outcomes.

	⊲ Average cost per hour of policy advice and recommendations

Actual 
2020–21  

$

Actual 
2021–22  

$

Actual 
2022–23  

$

Actual 
2023–24  

$

Target 
2024–25  

$

Actual 
2024–25  

$

148 273 328 325 432 334

This measure of efficiency was established to reflect the cost per hour of policy 
advice. This is considered a relevant efficiency indicator as it:

•	 captures a significant function of the Department

•	 measures the amount of resources required to develop and implement 
policies and strategies

•	 is of interest as it shows the cost of policy development

•	 is relevant to the use of funds being expended to develop and implement 
strategic policy and legislation that promotes sustainable environmental 
outcomes. 

The indicator is relevant to this service as they can track the efficiency of the 
policy development and implementation over time and provide a simple metric 
for users of the Department’s budget statements and annual report.

The indicator is calculated by totalling the functional group costs associated 
with agency activity of carrying out and administering the function of providing 
policy advice and recommendations. The advice and recommendations relate 
to the development, review and amendment of environmental policy, national 
policy, primary and subsidiary legislation, and environmental programs, 
providing advice to the Minister and the State Government in relation to 
legislation administration. The total number of available FTE hours for the 
services is divided into the costs to provide an average cost per hour of policy 
advice and recommendations.

Variance analysis

The decrease in average cost per Works Approval and Licence Application 
from the 2024–25 Target to 2024–25 Actuals is mainly due to lower resource 
cost allocations. 

The increase in average cost per Works Approval and Licence Application from 
the 2023–24 Actuals to 2024–25 Actuals is mainly due to higher resource cost 
allocations as well as a decrease in the number of Works Approval and Licence 
Applications decided during the year.

The decrease in average cost per native vegetation clearing permit application 
from the 2023–24 Actual to the 2024–25 Actual is due to lower resource cost 
allocations more than offset by a relatively small increase in the number of 
native vegetation clearing permit applications decided during 2024–25.

173 | Annual report 2024–25 | Department of Water and Environmental Regulation Home Overview Priorities Issues Performance Disclosures Other Appendices

https://www.wa.gov.au/government/publications/water-and-environmental-regulation-annual-report-2024-25
https://www.wa.gov.au/government/publications/water-and-environmental-regulation-annual-report-2024-25
https://www.wa.gov.au/government/publications/water-and-environmental-regulation-annual-report-2024-25
https://www.wa.gov.au/government/publications/water-and-environmental-regulation-annual-report-2024-25
https://www.wa.gov.au/government/publications/water-and-environmental-regulation-annual-report-2024-25
https://www.wa.gov.au/government/publications/water-and-environmental-regulation-annual-report-2024-25


Variance analysis

The decrease in average cost per hour of policy advice and recommendations 
from the 2024–25 Target to 2024–25 Actuals is due to an increase in the 
number of hours of policy advice and recommendations delivered during 
2024–25, resulting for additional budget funding (additional 6,502 hours). 

Service 6 Waste strategies

Waste avoided and the recovery of materials from landfill maximised.

	⊲ Cost of landfill levy compliance as a percentage of landfill levy 
income collected

Actual 
2020–21  

%

Actual 
2021‑22  

%

Actual 
2022‑23  

%

Actual 
2023‑24  

%

Target 
2024–25  

%

Actual 
2024–25  

%

1.60 1.87 1.64 1.50 1.40 1.19

This measure of efficiency was established to reflect the cost of levy 
compliance as a percentage of the landfill levy income collected. This is 
considered a relevant efficiency indicator as it:

•	 measures the number of resources applied to the waste avoidance 
strategies and landfill diversion strategies

•	 is of interest as it shows the cost of managing the waste strategies 

•	 is relevant to the use of funds being expended to develop and implement 
strategic policy and legislation that promotes sustainable environmental 
outcomes.

The indicator is relevant to the service as it can track the efficiency of 
managing waste strategies and provides a simple metric for users of the 
Department’s budget statements and annual report.

The cost of landfill levy compliance as a percentage of landfill levy income 
collected is determined by totalling those functional group costs deemed 
relevant to the Department’s activity of carrying out and administering the 
function of providing landfill levy compliance – being the administration of 
the landfill levy returns, auditing of those returns, processing of exemptions 
and undertaking inspections at a range of waste facilities, and carrying out 
unauthorised waste activity investigations. The indicator is calculated by 
dividing the cost of levy compliance by the amount of landfill levy income 
collected for the year.
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Variance analysis

The decrease in the cost of landfill levy compliance as a percentage of landfill 
levy income collected from the 2023–24 Actual and the 2024–25 Target to 
2024–25 Actual is due to an increase in landfill levy income resulting from 
greater than anticipated waste to landfill volumes as well as a relatively 
small decrease in dedicated resource monitoring and enforcing landfill levy 
compliance activities.

Service 7: Environmental impact assessment services to the EPA

Conduct, for the EPA, environmental impact assessments of significant 
proposals and schemes.

	⊲ Cost per standardised unit of assessment output

Actual 
2020‑21  

$

Actual 
2021‑22  

$

Actual 
2022‑23  

$

Actual 
2023‑24  

$

Target 
2024‑25  

$

Actual 
2024‑25  

$

62,466 45,444 79,177 102,998 79,087 79,259

While the variation in assessment complexity is reflected in the level of 
assessment set, several other factors affect how complex a proposal is to 
assess. To account for this range in difficulty, each assessment completed is 
assigned a weighting.

This indicator measures the efficiency of the Department’s provision of EIA 
advice to the EPA rather than the Department’s cost per hour. The total 
assessment complexity is calculated by summing the individual complexities 
allocated to each assessment according to their inherent characteristics.

The cost per standardised unit of assessment output is calculated by dividing 
the total cost of assessments (including an allocation of post‑approval costs 
and a portion of costs for policy and administrative support) by the total 
complexity weighting of assessments completed during the budget year.

Variance analysis

The decrease in cost per standardised unit of assessment output from the 
2023–24 Actual to 2024–25 Actual is due to a higher number of standardised 
units of assessment outputs delivered. This is primarily a result of 18 section 
38 reports being finalised in 2024–25, the highest number in more than 
eight years, many of which were complex assessments.
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Service 8: Environmental management services to the EPA

Develop, for the EPA, statutory policies, guidelines, and strategic advice to 
manage environmental impacts and protect the environment.

	⊲ Cost per standardised unit of environmental management 
services output

Actual 
2020‑21  

$

Actual 
2021‑22  

$

Actual 
2022‑23  

$

Actual 
2023‑24  

$

Target 
2024‑25  

$

Actual 
2024‑25  

$

34,572 26,706 26,151 53,172 48,827 47,570

Due to the variation in complexity of environmental management services 
provided, an average cost per piece of advice provided would not fairly 
represent the Department’s efficiency in providing such advice to the EPA. 
In fact, such a measure could provide a perverse incentive to produce many 
straightforward pieces of advice rather than tackling more complex issues 
that are more difficult to investigate. To account for this range in difficulty, each 
assessment completed is assigned a weighting.

 This indicator measures the efficiency of the Department’s provision of 
environmental management advice to the EPA rather than the Department’s 
cost per hour.

The cost per standardised unit of environmental management services output 
is calculated by dividing the total cost of environmental management services 
(including an allocation of administrative support) by the total complexity 
weighting of environmental management services endorsed during the period.

Variance analysis

Strategic advice and support for environmental management services to the 
EPA is provided by the Office of the EPA division within the Department with 
support from other functions of the Department for specialist environmental 
services. The cost per standardised unit of environmental management 
services output is lower than the 2023–24 Actual due to a number of higher 
complexity environmental management services outputs (policies and 
guidance) being prepared including to the EPA’s procedure suite.
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Service 9: Compliance monitoring services to the Minister

Audit the compliance with conditions set under Ministerial approvals and 
undertake enforcement action as appropriate.

	⊲ Average cost per environmental audit completed

Actual 
2020‑21  

$

Actual 
2021‑22  

$

Actual 
2022‑23  

$

Actual 
2023‑24  

$

Target 
2024‑25  

$

Actual 
2024‑25  

$

56,117 51,684 148,276 336,373 76,663 112,958

The indicator is calculated by dividing the total cost (including an allocation 
of administrative overheads) allocated to compliance monitoring services by 
the total number of audits (not including desktop scans) completed during the 
period.

Variance analysis

Compliance monitoring services to the Minister for the Environment are 
provided by a dedicated Assurance directorate within the Department with 
support from other functions of the Department. The actual average cost 
per environmental audit completed in 2024–25 is higher than the 2023–24 
Actuals and the 2024–25 Target due to 68% of the Target sixty number of 
environmental audits being completed. Whilst the number of completed 
audits was below target, significant improvements to process and efficiency 
were made during the year with substantially more audits completed during 
2024–25 than in 2023–24.
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